# **Review**

# Cactus stems (*Opuntia* spp.): A review on their chemistry, technology, and uses

# Florian C. Stintzing and Reinhold Carle

Hohenheim University, Institute of Food Technology, Plant Foodstuff Technology, Stuttgart, Germany

Although traditionally used as a valuable health supporting nutrient, the vegetative parts of *Opuntia* spp. plants are scarcely used in modern nutrition and medicine. While all kinds of different *Opuntia* spp. have been studied, a systematic approach regarding the inter-relationships between the composition and the pre- and postharvest conditions is still missing. Therefore, the present review compiles and discusses literature on the chemical composition of cactus stems, the knowledge on uses in food, medicine, and cosmetics. It is concluded that much research is needed to get an insight into the multitude of bioactivities reported in the traditional literature but also to take advantage of the respective constituents for food and pharmaceutical applications.

Keywords: Cactus stem / Cactus vegetable / Nopal / Opuntia spp. / Review

Received: October 11, 2004; revised: November 10, 2004; accepted: November 12, 2004

# **Contents**

1	Introduction	L /.
2		17
3	General composition and chemistry of cactus stems . 1	17
3.1	Low-molecular-weight compounds	17
3.1.1	Minerals 1	17
3.1.2	Sugars	17
3.1.3		17
3.1.4	Amino acids and amines	17
3.1.5	Lipids and terpenes	17
3.1.6	Vitamins, carotenoids, and chlorophylls	17
3.1.7	Phenolic constituents	17
3.2	High-molecular-weight compounds	17
4	Nopalea cochenillifera (L.) Salm-Dyck	18
5	Production and uses of cactus stems	18
5.1	Production	18
5.2	Postharvest technology	18
5.3	Vegetable	18
5.4	Further uses as food, pharmaceutical, and cosmetic	
	products1	18
5.5	Cochineal production	18.
5.6		18
5.7		18:
5.8	Further uses in the nonfood sector	18.

**Correspondence:** Dr. Florian C. Stintzing, Hohenheim University, Institute of Food Technology, Plant Foodstuff Technology, August-von-Hartmann-Strasse 3, D-70599 Stuttgart, Germany

E-mail: stintzin@uni-hohenheim.de

Fax: +49-711-459-4110

Abbreviations: CAM, crassulacean acid metabolism; LDL, low-density lipoprotein

6	Pharmacological profile	184
6.1	Antioxidant capacity	184
6.2	Anti-inflammatory and analgesic effects	184
6.2.1	Analgesic action	184
6.2.2	Anti-inflammatory properties	184
6.2.3	Antiulcerogenic effect	185
6.3	Hypoglycemic and antidiabetic effect	185
6.4	Anti-hyperlipidemic and cholesterol-lowering effect	185
6.4.1	Anti-hyperlipidemic properties	185
6.4.2	Cholesterol-lowering properties	185
6.5	Anti-atherogenic effect	186
6.6	Diuretic effect and impact on uric acid metabolism	186
6.7	Further pharmacological effects	186
6.7.1	Antispermatogenic properties	186
6.7.2	Antiviral properties	186
6.7.3	Monoamino-oxidase inhibition	186
7	Summary and perspectives	187
7.1	Chemistry	187
7.2	Potential applications	187
7.2.1	Food	187
7.2.2	Pharmaceutical and cosmetic applications	187
8	Conclusions	188
9	References	188

# 1 Introduction

The cactus *Opuntia* (genus *Opuntia*, subfamily Opuntioideae, family Cactaceae) is a xerophyte producing about 200–300 species and is mainly growing in arid (less than 250 mm annual precipitation) and semi-arid (250–450 mm annual precipitation) zones. Due to their remarkable genetic variability, *Opuntia* plants show a high ecological adaptivity and can therefore be encountered in places of vir-

tually all climatic conditions: North, Central, and South America, the Mediterranean, North, Central, and South Africa, the Middle East, Australia, and also in India [1, 2]. Commercial cultivation is carried out in Italy, Spain, Mexico, Brazil, Chile, Argentina, and California [3]. Traditionally and still today, cactus plants serve as sources for fruits and vegetables, for medicinal and cosmetic purposes, as forage, building material, and as a source for natural colors. However, their use is still mainly restricted to the countries of origin [1, 4–8]. In the light of global desertification and declining water resources, *Opuntia* spp. is gaining even more importance as an effective food production system including both the vegetative but also the fruit parts.

Opuntia fruits, also known as cactus pears or prickly pears, are regionally consumed as fresh fruit, juice, sweets, etc., but also exported for the European fresh fruit market [9, 10]. Recent investigations anticipate the use of fruit juice and fruit juice concentrate as functional ingredient for the soft drink market as well as a betalainic coloring foodstuff [11–13]. Since the mid of the 70es, the interest in cactus pads is increasing. In Mexico and South California, but also in Chile, commercial production lines have been installed with corresponding export activities.

The present contribution is covering the chemical and pharmacological properties of the constituents from *Opuntia* cactus pads, but also their current and future use in foods, pharmaceutical, and cosmetic products.

# 2 Biology

Though not matching with morphological criteria, the term cactus leaves is frequently used in the literature to address the flattened stem segments of the Opuntia plant that replace leaves in their photosynthetic function. Thus, cactus stems, cactus pads, cactus vegetable, phylloclades or cladodes are the correct terms, synonymous to nopales or pencas. The stems are composed of a white medullar parenchyma (core tissue) and the chlorophyll containing photosynthetically active parenchyma (cortex tissue). The latter is covered with spines (modified leaves) and multicellular hairs or trichomes, both forming the so-called areole, which is characteristic of members from the Cactaceae family. The subfamily Opuntioideae is further characterized by having short, sharp, barbed, deciduous spines, called glochids. The areoles are also the origin of the flowers, i.e., short shoots with specialized leaves [14]. The glochids are composed of 100% crystalline cellulose [15]. The spines are constituted of 96% polysaccharides, which themselves divide up into 49.7% cellulose and 50.3% arabinan, the remainder being ash, fat, and waxes as well as lignin. The cellulose microfibrils of 0.4 mm length and 6-10 µm in diameter are parallely loosely imbedded in an arabinan matrix. The latter is partly present as a solid gel, partly tightly woven with the cellulose [16]. This 50:50 polymer was reported to be free of hemicelluloses [17]. The spines are 1–3 cm long and make up 8.4% of the total cladode weight. Their functions include mechanical protection from herbivores, reflection of light, shading of the stem, and thus reducing water loss as well as condensing fog [14].

# 3 General composition and chemistry of cactus stems

Cladode composition varies depending on the edaphic factors at the cultivation site, the season and the age of the plant [18–20] accounting for the considerable variations in published data. Therefore, the respective nutrient contents vary both among species and varieties and should not be taken as absolute values. The composition of de-barbed cladodes has been investigated by [21]. In 100 g dry matter, 19.6 g ash, 7.2 g lipids and waxes, 3.6 g lignin, 21.6 g cellulose, and 48 g other polysaccharides were found, while crude proteins were not assessed. Other authors [1, 9, 18– 20, 22] reported 64–71 g carbohydrates, 18 g fibers, 19– 23.5 g ash, 1-4 g lipids, and 4-10 g proteins, the latter consisting of 1-2 g digestive proteins. On a fresh weight basis, these values translate into 3-7 g carbohydrates, 1-2 g minerals, 0.5–1 g proteins, 0.2 g lipids, and 1 g fibrous substances per 100 g plant material [20, 23]. Younger cladodes show higher carbohydrate, protein, and water contents. Interestingly, fertilization low in nitrogen led to an increase in the crude protein content, while for use as feed for lactating cows, nitrogen doses of 224 kg/ha were recommended. Phosphate supplementation of 112 kg/ha improved the low phosphate content of the cladodes [22]. During growth, the fibrous framework decomposed in the core but developed in the cortex. In total, however, proteins and fibers decreased with age. Typically, the juice from nopales exhibited a pH of 4.6 with 0.45% titratable acids and  $6.9\,$  g/ $100\,$  g dry matter [20, 22, 24].

The high calcium and fiber contents are worth mentioning. Based on their composition pattern, cladodes are judged more valuable than lettuce, but less nutritive than spinach

**Table 1.** Mean chemical composition of despined *Opuntia* sp. cladodes<sup>a)</sup>

	Dry matter basis (g/100 g)	Fresh weight basis (g/100 g)
Water	-	88–95
Carbohydrates	64–71	3–7
Ash	19–23	1–2
Fibers	18	1–2
Protein	4–10	0.5-1
Lipids	1–4	0.2

a) According to [1, 9, 18-20, 22, 23]

[19, 22]. The water content of 88–95% makes cladodes a low-calorie food with 27 kcal/100 g [25]. The respective compound classes summarized in Table 1 are discussed below. Since, to the best of our knowledge, there is no report on the volatile constituents of cactus pads, only the non-volatile constituents will be considered.

# 3.1 Low-molecular-weight compounds

### 3.1.1 Minerals

Potassium is the main mineral amounting to about 60% of the total ash content (166 mg/100 g fresh weight), followed by calcium (93 mg/100 g fresh weight), sodium (2 mg/100 g fresh weight), and iron (1.6 mg/100 g fresh weight) while magnesium was not detected [26]. In more recent studies, the mineral composition was reported to be 50, 18-57, and 11-17 mg/100 g dry weight for potassium, calcium, and magnesium, respectively, followed by manganese  $(62-103 \mu g/g)$ , iron  $(59-66 \mu g/g)$ , zinc  $(22-27 \mu g/g)$ , and copper  $(8-9 \mu g/g)$  on a dry weight basis [18, 27]. Again, these values should be considered approximate numbers since the mineral contents vary with species, site of cultivation, and the physiological state of the cladode tissue. As will be discussed later, calcium is playing a crucial role in water retention of succulent tissues.

# 3.1.2 Sugars

The free sugar content was reported to reach 0.32 g/100 g fresh weight [26]. In another study the reducing sugar fraction was reported to be 0.64–0.88 g/100 g dry weight increasing with development but also varying with species [20].

# 3.1.3 Organic acids

Teles et al. [28, 29] have reported malonic acid and citric acid contents of 36 mg and 178 mg/100g fresh weight, respectively (Table 2). In contrast, older cladodes from Opuntia ficus-indica did not contain malonic acid any more and were reduced in citric acid (31 mg/100 g fresh weight). Tartaric- and succinic acids were only found in traces [28, 29]. Interestingly, piscidic and phorbic acids (Fig. 1) were qualitatively detected but could not be quantified due to lack of standards. The relative increase in piscidic acid was fourfold with increasing age, whereas the phorbic acid contents was reduced by one half of the initial value [28, 29]. Phorbic and piscidic acids are rarely encountered in nature and restricted to plants exhibiting crassulacean acid metabolism (CAM) metabolism and succulence [30-32]. Only very recently, piscidic acid derivatives, such as 2-E-feruloyl-piscidic (cimicifugic acid E) and 2-E-isoferuloylpiscidic acids (cimicifugic acid F) from the rhizome of Cimicifuga racemosa (L.) Nutt. were reported [33].

Piscidic acid

Phorbic acid

Eucomic acid

**Figure 1.** Chemical structures of rare organic acids in cactus stems

**Table 2.** Organic acid composition of *Opuntia* sp. cladodes at two different times of harvest<sup>a)</sup>

	Fresh weight (g/100 g)	
	6 a.m.	6 p.m.
Oxalic acid <sup>b)</sup>	35°)	35°)
Malic acid	985	95
Citric acid	178	31
Malonic acid	36	tr
Succinic acid	tr	tr
Tartaric acid	tr	tr
Phorbic acid	n.q.	n.q.
Piscidic acid	n.q.	n.q.
Eucomic acid	n.q.	n.q.

a) According to [27, 29, 34, 35]

tr = traces

Eucomic acid (Fig. 1) and two new phenolic carbon esters assigned as *n*-butyleucomate and methyleucomate were identified in an ethanolic extract from *O. ficus-indica* [34]. Furthermore, malic acid ranging from 95 to 985 mg/100 g fresh weight constitutes part of the free acid pool [29, 35] being influenced by diurnal changes due to the CAM: the plant fixes carbon dioxide as malic acid and releases oxygen during the night to prevent water losses through transpiration. Malic acid is decarboxylated and the released carbon dioxide is converted into glucose *via* photosynthetic

b) Total oxalic acid including soluble and insoluble fractions

e) Dry weight basis mg/100 g; no date of harvest indicated n.q. = not quantified

action during the day when stomata are closed [36–39]. The main acid, however, is oxalic acid which either occurs dissolved (0.61 mg/g dry weight) or in crystalline form (34.5 mg/g dry weight) as whewellite ( $Ca_2C_2O_4 \cdot H_2O$ ) or weddelite (Ca<sub>2</sub>C<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> · 2H<sub>2</sub>O) [21, 27, 40]. Moreover, oxalic acid has interesting inter-relationships with calcium and pectin metabolism [12, 16, 41].

#### 3.1.4 Amino acids and amines

F. C. Stintzing et al.

The crude protein content was reported to reach 11 g/100 g on a fresh or 0.5 g/100 g on a dry weight basis, respectively [42]. 77-112 mg/g dry weight depending on the month of harvest were found by others [19]. The same workers determined the amino acid pattern of Opuntia ficus-indica pads comprising 18 compounds. Another investigation on the composition of Tunisian O. ficus-indica var. inermis protein afforded 13.0% glutamic acid, 10.6% asparaginic acid, 8.3% leucine, 7.7% alanine, 7.0% valine, 6.5% proline, 5.9% lysine, 5.5% arginine, 5.2% isoleucine, 5.1% phenylalanine, 4.8% glycine, 4.3% threonine, 4.3% serine, 4.1% tyrosine, 2.3% histidine, 2.1% methionine, and 0.8% cysteine [43]. According to a more recent study considering both L- and D-enantiomers, 18 L-amino acids (Table 3) as well as the D-enantiomers of asparagine, asparaginic acid, glutamine, glutamic acid, and serine were detected [44]. Glutamine was by far the major amino acid followed by valine and serine (Table 3).

In contrast, glycine and arginine were found to be the predominant amino compounds in another investigation [45]. Older cladodes showed higher proline contents than

Table 3. Free L-amino acids in Opuntia ficus-indica cladodesa)

	Fresh weight basis (mg/100 g)
Alanine	0.6
Arginine	2.4
Asparagine	1.5
Asparaginic acid	2.1
Glutamic acid	2.6
Glutamine	17.3
Glycine	0.5
Histidine	2.0
Isoleucine	1.9
Leucine	1.3
Lysine	2.5
Methionine	1.4
Phenylalanine	1.7
Serine	3.2
Threonine	2.0
Tryosine	0.7
Tryptophane	0.5
Valine	3.7

a) Modified according to [44]

younger stems [46] which goes along with the role of proline as an osmolyte [47-51]. In Italian O. ficus-indica cladodes, a similar role was proposed for the polyamines spermine and spermidine accumulating during periods of drought presumably maintaining the cellular anion/cation balance [52]. Putrescine correlated with malate accumulation during the onset of CAM metabolism, supposably serving as a buffer for cellular pH [52]. However, the relevance of putrescine reaching higher levels in irrigated compared to unwatered plants remained to be elucidated [53]. Finally, Egyptian researchers [54] identified the hallucinogenic alkaloid mescaline and the biogenic amines tyramine and N-methyltyramine via thin-layer chromatography in defatted cladode extracts of Opuntia ficus-indica [L.] Mill. N-Methyltyramine was also reported to be the main amine in whole plant extracts from O. clavata Engelm. [55]. Further, albeit rare findings report the presence of mescaline and 3,4-dimethoxyphenethylamine in trace amounts together with their potential precursors tyramine in O. clavata Engelm. [55], tyramine and 3-methoxytyramine in O. spinosior [Engelm.] Toumey [56], O. imbricata Haw. and O. whipplei Engelm. & Bigelov [57] as well as hordenine in O. aurantiaca Lindley, O. clavata Engelm., O. maldonadensis Arech., O. versicolor Engelm., and O. vulgaris Mill. [55, 57, 58]. Hordenine was also reported to occur in O. hickenii at 0.013 mg/kg fresh weight together with choline at 0.063 mg/kg fresh weight [59]. In summary, tyramine and its derivatives N-methyltyramine and 3-methoxytyramine turned out to be the most prominent compounds in *Opuntia* spp. [58]. Although these data require verification, it needs to be emphasized that amines and especially alkaloids are typical for globular cacti, mainly encountered in the tribus Cereeae within the subfamily Cactoideae [14, 60-63].

# 3.1.5 Lipids and terpenes

An investigation on the sterol fraction of the chlorophyllcontaining cortex (chlorenchyma) demonstrated the presence of 5.0% and 4.4% cholesterol, 8.0% and 8.8%  $24-\zeta$ methylcholesterol, as well as 87.0% and 86.7% sitosterol for O. humifusa and O. comonduensis, respectively [64]. In preliminary experiments, Muñoz de Chávez et al. [26] reported the presence of high contents of ω-3-fatty acids in the lipid fraction. Jianquin et al. [34] identified methyl-oleate (ω-9) and methyl-linoleate (ω-6) in O. vulgaris cladodes. In addition, the triterpenes  $\alpha$ -amyrin, 3- $\beta$ -acetyl-taraxerol, friedeline, and lupenone were found [34, 65].

#### 3.1.6 Vitamins, carotenoids, and chlorophylls

Total vitamin C (ascorbic and dehydroascorbic acid) in 100 g fresh weight amounted up to 22 mg,  $\beta$ -carotene to 11.3–53.5 μg, thiamine to 0.14 mg, riboflavin to 0.6 mg, and niacine to 0.46 mg, respectively [20, 22, 29, 66, 67] (Table 4). A recent investigation on the carotenoid profile

Table 4. Vitamin contents in *Opuntia* sp. cladodes<sup>a)</sup>

	per 100 g fresh weight
Total vitamin C Niacine Riboflavine Thiamine β-Carotene	7–22 mg 0.46 mg 0.60 mg 0.14 mg 11.3–53.5 μg

a) According to [20, 22, 35, 66]

of fresh cactus pear cladodes determined the presence of  $\alpha$ -cryptoxanthin (20%),  $\beta$ -carotene (36%), and lutein (44%) amounting to 229  $\mu$ g/g dry weight altogether with increasing amounts upon thermal treatment [68]. While lutein is typical for green vegetables [69–72], no information is yet available on folate in cactus usually accompanying chlorophyll in green vegetable tissues such as in spinach, lettuce or Swiss chard [73, 74]. Total chlorophyll of cladodes was reported to be 12.5 mg/100 g fresh weight, while chlorophyll a with 9.5 mg surmounted the chlorophyll b content with 3.0 mg [66].

#### 3.1.7 Phenolic constituents

The total phenolic content in Mexican cactus pads accounted for 8-9 mg/100 g fresh weight [75]. Jaramillo-Flores et al. [68] differentiated between bound and free phenolics with the latter being in the same range as reported by [75]. In another investigation on a dried and milled total cladode extract, isorhamnetin 3-glucoside, isorhamnetin 3-galactoside, quercetin 3-rhamnoside, myricetin, vitexin, and orientin were detected [76] (Fig. 2). The cladode parenchyma of O. basilaris Engelm. & Bigelov, O. leucotricha de Candolle, O. lindheimeri Engelm., and O. quimillo K. Sch., contained quercetin, kaempferol, and isorhamnetin. For the first time, also methyl-3-quercetin was identified [77]. This dominance of flavonol derivatives has already been reported by [78] in a work on O. robusta Wendl. and O. leucotricha. In the spines and the cladode pericarp, quercetin, kaempferol, isorhamnetin, methyl-3-quercetin, and methyl-3-kaempferol, but also the 3-hydroxyflavanones taxifolin (dihydroquercetin) and aromadendrine (dihydrokaempferol) were found. Flavones and flavanones, however, could not be detected [79] (Fig. 2). Finally, Burret et al. [79] maintain that higher phenolic contents were present in the colorless spines compared to the chlorophyll containing tissue. This is plausible considering the complementary protective action of chlorophylls and flavonoids towards UV-radiation [82–84].

In most recent studies further structures were identified in an ethanolic extract from *O. dillenii* Haw. cladodes re-extracted with *n*-butanol in decreasing order [83, 84]: opun-

**Figure 2.** Chemical structures of some typical flavonoid aglycones from *Opuntia* cladodes.

tioside, isorhamnetin 3-rutinoside, opuntiol, manghaslin (quercetin 3-[2G-rhamnosylrutinosid]), p-hydroxybenzoic acid, 1-heptanecanol, ferulic acid, 3,4-dihydroxybenzoic acid, vanillic acid, 3,3'-dimethylquercetin, malic acid, kaempferol-7-O- $\beta$ -glucopyranoside, 3-O-methyl-quercetin 7-O- $\beta$ -D-glucopyranoside, rutin (quercetin 3-rutinoside), ethyl 3,4-dihydroxybenzoic acid, 4-ethoxy-6-hydroxymethyl- $\alpha$ -pyrone, and kaempferol 7-O- $\beta$ -D-glucopyranosyl (1 $\rightarrow$ 4)- $\beta$ -D-glucopyranoside. The latter together with opuntioside and 4-ethoxy-6-hydroxymethyl- $\alpha$ -pyrone were reported for the first time, while opuntiol (= 2-hydroxymethyl-4-methoxy- $\alpha$ -pyrone) had been earlier detected in Opuntia elatior and O. polyacantha [85, 86] (Fig. 3).

# 3.2 High-molecular-weight compounds

Ben Thlija [87] report mean values in dry matter of five *Opuntia* sp. cladodes amounting to 11% cellulose, 8% hemicellulose, and 3.9% lignin, respectively, while 21.6%

4-ethoxy-6-hydroxymethyl-α-pyrone

**Figure 3.** Structures of pyrone-derivatives from *Opuntia* stems (Glc = glucose).

cellulose and 3.6% lignin were found by [21] who did not differentiate between cellulose and hemicellulose. The starch content also addressed as glucan [24] from O. ficusindica cladodes fluctuated with seasons and reached mean values of 85–171 mg/g dry weight [19]. The hydrocolloids comprised up to 36% of the cladode volume and due to their high swelling capacity, water storage reached 50% of their total weight. Sutton et al. [24] maintain that glucans act as carbon source for malic acid involved in CAM while mucilage was mainly involved in carbohydrate metabolism in Opuntia bigelovii Engelm. For 100 g fresh weight of O. tomentosa and O. robusta the hydrolysate from the carbohydrate fraction yielded 10.41 g total sugars, being subdivided into 8.49 g polysaccharides, 1.6 g disaccharides, and 0.32 g monosaccharides, respectively [26]. The total hexose concentration of 3.78 g divided up into 1.97 g polysaccharides, 1.55 g disaccharides, and 0.26 g monosaccharides. In addition, 5.12 g pentosans and only 0.1 g pentose monosaccharides were found in 100 g fresh material. Finally, another carbohydrate fraction (1.70 g) was isolated showing uronic acid units. Thus, it was concluded that mainly hexoses and pentoses are the building blocks of the cactus pad hydrocolloid.

According to Nobel *et al.* [88], the average sugar composition of the mucilage from *O. ficus indica* cladodes added up to 42% arabinose, 22% xylose, 21% galactose, 8% galacturonic acid, and 7% rhamnose, respectively. Precipitation was achieved by cation addition of calcium, lead, barium, silver, copper, iron, cobalt, or nickel [89], pointing to an anionic polyelectrolyte.

Majdoub *et al.* [90] investigated the polysaccharide fraction of the chlorophyll-containing stem parenchyma and also of the peeled cladode. Based on an identical yield of 85 mg/ 100 g fresh weight the chlorenchyma was composed of

53.7% rhamnose, and 46.3% galacturonic acid while the pulp showed one-fifth of the uronic acid concentrations (10.2%), lower rhamnose (46%), 15% arabinose, 9.1% xylose, 11.0% galactose, 4.1% mannose, 1.9% glucose, and 12.7% of a noncharacterized fraction. At pH 6.3, the polysaccharide fraction of the chlorenchyma exhibited a methoxylation degree of 88% and a molecular weight of  $3.53 \times 10^5$  g/mol while the core tissue afforded 8.8% and  $6.12 \times 10^6$  g/mol, respectively.

It is worth mentioning that a remarkable viscosity rise was monitored between pH 4 and 6, being lower for the chlorenchyma. At pH 2–4, a slight increase was detected while between pH 6 and 10, virtually no viscosity changes were monitored. When the  $pK_a$  value of 3.2–3.5 was reached, the molecule changed from a globular to a linear state. At an ionic strength of 0.025 M, the viscosity of the pulp extract doubled when compared to the pectin from the pericarp tissue [90, 91].

In addition to the distinct differences between pectic substances from core and cortex tissues, a further differentiation for the hydrocolloids from the core parenchyma was deemed necessary [92]. Most often disrespected in the literature, the authors distinguished mucilages and pectins. To prove the chemical differences of these two macromolecular fractions, an extraction protocol was proposed for separate workup. While the mucilages did not form a gel upon calcium addition, the pectins were sensitive to divalent cations. Additionally, the former exhibited emulsifying properties. By means of ultrafiltration, Majdoub et al. [91] were able to separate a high-molecular-weight (10%) and a low-molecular-weight fraction (90%) from an extract of peeled cactus pads. The latter consisted of 80% protein which was poorly water-soluble and similar to the 2S-albumin from O. ficus-indica seeds characterized earlier [93]. Although the high molecular fraction showed a slight sensitivity to calcium in solution, no viscosity increase was observed upon calcium addition because only weak intramolecular bonding was induced. Only when the mucilage concentration was increased to 10 g/100 g water, intermolecular bridging resulted in a gel-like network [91]. Since an unpurified extract performed visco-elastic properties, it was concluded that the protein fraction interacted with polysaccharides by intermolecular bonding.

In 1980 already, Karawya et al. [94] established a differentiation between mucilage and pectin, based on their specific neutral sugar and uronic acid contents. Interestingly, these authors found structural similarities with the polysaccharide fraction from swollen quince seeds, which is applied in cosmetic and pharmaceutical products [95, 96]. With respect to rheological characteristics, the *Opuntia* hydrocolloid behaved similarly to ocra (*Abelmoschus esculentus* [L.] Moench.) mucilages [97].

# 4 Nopalea cochenillifera (L.) Salm-Dyck

Only three studies were dedicated to the constituents of Nopalea cochenillifera (L.) Salm-Dyck., formerly known as Opuntia cochenillifera (L.) Mill. [98–100]. Malic and citric acids were found to be the major constituents while oxalic acid was only present in trace amounts [99]. Furthermore, fructose, glucose, sucrose, and maltose as well as traces of raffinose were detected [99, 100]. As expected for CAM plants, the sugar contents (calculated as glucose) depended on diurnal changes and ranged between 63.0 and 90.0 mg/100 g fresh weight [99]. The mean chemical composition was similar to other Opuntia spp. [20] (Table 1) and reported to be 91.8 g/100 g water, 18.2 g/100 g ash, 15.9 g/100 g mucilages, 10.1 g/100 g sucrose, 7.1 g/100 g proteins, 4.4 g/100 g fructose, and 2.5 g/100 g glucose on a fresh weight basis, respectively [100]. The amino acids in an alcoholic extract from fresh phylloclades comprised leucine, phenylalanine, valine, methionine, proline, alanine, glutamic acid, threonine, glycine, serine, lysine, cysteine, and  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid, respectively [98].

#### 5 Production and uses of cactus stems

#### 5.1 Production

Nowadays, *Opuntia* plants are grown in more than 30 countries on about 100 000 ha [3, 37] among others Mexiko, the Mediterranean (Egypt, Italy, Greece, Spain, Turkey), California, South America (Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Columbia, Peru), the Middle East (Israel, Jordan), North Africa (Algeria, Marocco, Tunisia), South Africa, and India [3, 101, 102]. For cladodes, a mean hectare yield of 30–80 t can be achieved annually [9, 22]. Mexico is the only country planting cladodes for commercial use on 10 000 ha with a total production of 600 000 tons per annum [67]. On the other hand, *Nopalea cochenillifera* is primarily cultivated in South California and Texas [9]. Their cladodes are softer, devoid of spines, containing less mucilages and being greener than those of *Opuntia* spp.

As a CAM plant, *Opuntia* spp. are characterized by a high water use efficiency of 4-10 mmol  $CO_2$  per mol  $H_2O$  compared to  $C_3$ - and  $C_4$ -plants with 1.0-1.5 mmol and 2-3 mmol  $CO_2$  per mol  $H_2O$ , respectively. Through succulence, the ability to store considerable quantities of water, the plant may survive despite harsh environmental conditions [103]. Furthermore, *Opuntia* exhibits the highest production rate of overground-growing plants [88, 104]. Interestingly, the biomass production was even found to increase upon otherwise deleterious rise of atmospheric  $CO_2$  concentrations [105–107], thus counteracting the greenhouse effect.

According to Flores-Valdez [108], high season is from April to August when cladodes attain a market price of

0.1 USD per kg while during off-season from November till February the price may increase tenfold. Cactus vegetable is harvested when reaching a weight of 90–100 g and a length of 15–20 cm [5, 109]. In contrast, the quality of cladodes derived from *Nopalea cochenillifera* (clone 1308) was optimal when reaching 40 g and 11–13 cm length [100]. Qualitatively, high-value cactus stems are thin, with a strong green color as well as a high turgescence and freshness. They usually derive from *O. robusta*, *O. streptacantha*, *O. leucotricha*, *O. hyptiacantha*, and *O. chavena*. Plantations exist in Mexico for *O. rastera*, *O. robusta*, *O. engelmannii*, *O. megacantha*, and *O. phaecantha*, while *O. ficus-indica* var. *inermis* and *O. lindheimeri* are usually encountered in Texas [9].

Since very recently, *O. atropes* Rose is getting popular in Mexico due to its pleasant smell and texture [8]. *O. leucotricha* ("duraznillo") and *O. robusta* ("tapon") yield high-quality cladodes, since the pericarp can be easily removed, will neither fall apart during boiling nor release mucilages [8, 22]. Because of the high water content and low pH, the cladodes are prone to rapid microbiological decay limiting fresh marketing. Hence, postharvest technologies are required for upholding its quality [5, 22, 75].

#### 5.2 Postharvest technology

If cladodes are harvested before reaching a length of 10 cm, the tissue is still CAM-inactive and virtually devoid of spines. Bigger cactus stems need to be harvested according to the respective acidity required ranging from 0.94% in the morning to 0.47% in the afternoon [5, 110]. According to a very recent study on CAM active cladodes, the acid content was not only dependent on the time of harvest during the day but also on the respective Opuntia spp. variant (0.28-0.76%), and the postharvest conditions applied [111]. With age, the acid content rose till the harvest date, but was levelled through storage at elevated temperatures [20]. In contrast, cool storage maintained the acidity or even amplified it. The sugar content and pH were decreased while protein increased [22]. Cactus stems (Opuntia sp.) may be stored at 20°C for one week. After the 6th day, a weight loss of 10% was registered [109] also being obvious by turgor loss. However, after 7 days of storage at 20°C, ascorbic acid contents dropped by 20–40% [67]. It has been shown that cladodes need to be carefully harvested to minimize mechanical injuries on the tissue and thus reduce losses through respiration and infection by Penicillium sp., Aspergillus sp., and Alternaria sp., respectively [22, 66, 112].

When cladodes were stored in open boxes at 5°C and 85–90% rel. humidity or 10°C and 80–90% rel. humidity, tissue injuries were manifest after 15 d or 21 d, respectively. Storage periods of 4 weeks at 5°C or 2 weeks at 10°C were

achieved when polypropylene foil (25 µm) was used [67, 75]. Chilling injury symptoms, i. e., physiological disorders induced by low temperatures, were registered after three weeks at 5°C. The weight loss could be reduced from 28 to 2% when cladodes were stored at 5°C during 30 days in modified atmosphere at partial pressures of up to 8.6 kPa O<sub>2</sub> and up to 6.9 kPa CO<sub>2</sub>, respectively [66]. Moreover, rapid enzymatic browning and mucilage drip at the cutted ends were thus minimized. Identical effects were achieved by dipping the cladodes into chlorinated water (100 ppm, 4°C, 15 min) or ascorbic acid solution (100 ppm). Other authors proposed a blanching step (85°C/15 s or 80°C/ 120 s) and subsequent treatment with bisulfite, citric or ascorbic acid solutions [75, 109]. Additionally, modified atmosphere ( $\leq 8.6 \text{ kPa O}_2$ ,  $\leq 6.9 \text{ kPa CO}_2$ ) reduced microbial growth (moulds, yeasts) considerably, albeit not totally suppressed it. Compared to unpacked samples, only the mesophilic counts were increased all of them being devoid of pathogenic species [66, 112]. A passive (8 kPa O<sub>2</sub>, 7 kPa CO<sub>2</sub>) or semi-active modified atmosphere with 20 kPa CO<sub>2</sub> afforded the best results [112]. The textural properties generally suffering from storage, could be conserved by modified atmosphere which was ascribed to decreased cellulase, hemicellulase, and pectinase activities. In addition, the green color was kept through reduction of chlorophyllase action [66, 112].

Being more susceptible to cold storage, *Nopalea cochenilli-fera* cladodes only lost 7% weight during 12 days at 20°C [100]. Packaging in polyvinylchloride (10 µm) was advantageous up to three weeks when the temperature was kept between 12–20°C. Polyethylene (30 µm) was less appropriate. Alternatively, after 7 days at 20°C or 14 days at 12°C, an acceptable acid content was obtained, when the cladodes were treated with dim light prior to marketing because malic acid catabolism was thus induced. High relative humidities of 85–89% proved to be disadvantageous [100].

# 5.3 Vegetable

The young cladodes deriving from the *Platyopuntia* species *O. ficus-indica* Mill., *O. streptacantha* Lem., *O. amyclaea* Ten., *O. robusta* Wendl., *O. ficus indica* var. *inermis* De candolle, and *Nopalea cochenillifera* (L.) Salm-Dyck are called nopalitos [9]. Because of diurnal acidity changes, the cladodes should be harvested after 2 h of sunshine to be best for use as vegetable [9, 26]. Then, the chlorenchyma together with spines and glochids are removed. The peeled cladodes are sliced or cut into small cubes blanched or cooked and further processed into sour vegetables or nopalito sauce. Further products derived from cladodes are jam, chutney or pickles, candied nopales, *etc.* [10, 113]. While cladodes have been traditionally used as a meat substitute during fasting periods, they are nowadays served with

meals similar to green beans [114]. Based on the determination of ten amino acids a biological valence of 72.6% compared to total egg protein was found [28, 42]. Lysine, methionine, and tryptophane concentrations were higher than in most cereals [26].

# 5.4 Further uses as food, pharmaceutical, and cosmetic products

Further studies were dedicated to the technological use of cladodes. According to Medina-Torres et al. [115] a cactus polysaccharide solution of 10 g/100 g water and a xanthan solution of 2 g/100 g water showed comparable rheological behavior. The viscosity of the former could be increased by either increasing the pH or lowering the ionic strength. A 5% solution at 35°C exhibited stronger tendencies to gel formation which was ascribed to a conformational change of the polysaccharide. Irrespective of hydrocolloid concentration, no temperature dependency was found [115]. In a subsequent study, interactions with ι- and κ-carrageenan solutions (2 g/100 g) were monitored [116]. While upon addition of t-carrageenan a decrease in viscosity was registered, the gel strength was slightly improved when 60/40 or 80/20 w/w blends from the cactus hydrocolloid and  $\kappa$ -carrageenan were tested.

As a powder, partly sold in capsules, cladodes are used to regulate weight, blood sugar, or proliferate the general fibre intake. After hydration, the resulting gel exerts a cooling effect, will ease the skin and thus contribute to accelerated wound healing similar to *Aloe vera* preparations. Mulas [117] and Saénz [113] report cladode flour to be composed of 52–53% carbohydrates, 20–22% ash, 15–16% proteins, 9.75% water, 9.5% fibers, and 0.25% lipids, respectively. It was claimed that the insoluble fibres bind toxins, while the soluble fraction increased stool bulking through which the peristaltics were improved and the passage time through the colon reduced; hence the use as a substitute for Psyllii semen (Plantago psyllium L.). Although the amount applied in cosmetics is less important, the range of potential products is large. Juice from cladodes may be found in shampooing, conditioners, lotions, soaps, and sun protectors [10, 113] and was also claimed to improve hair growth [118]. Cladode powder was also proposed as ingredient of drinks based on milk, whey, and water with up to 10% nopalito [10, 113]. Furthermore, the farinaceous nopalito may be applied up to 20% as a thickening agent in vegetable soups, dessert gels, an ingredient for breakfast cereals and also as a wheat flour substitute. For the latter, the freeness is crucial for determination of the water binding behavior. Finally, the cactus hydrocolloids are used as fat replacers and adsorbers for unpleasant smells [10, 113, 114, 119].

Companies processing cladodes into various foods are exclusively found in Mexico. Consequently, the greatest product variety is found in Mexico and the USA. The small percentage of exported products mainly constitute of vegetable preserves [10, 113].

# 5.5 Cochineal production

Cochineal is produced by drying and milling adult female Dactylopius coccus Costa, parasitic insects that host on cactus pear pads. To obtain 1 kg of cochineal, 140 000 insects are required that may contain up to 50% pigment of their total weight. The hectar yield usually adds up to 100–200 kg. Cochineal is a pigment blend mainly consisting of carminic acid (hydroxyanthraquinone derivative), but also kermesic and flavokermesic acids (Fig. 4). In addition, four compounds hitherto unidentified contribute considerably to cochineal color [120-122]. The predominant component carminic acid (E 120; C.I. natural red 3) is used for all kinds of food with pH values usually above pH 3.5. Aluminumcalcium salts of 50-65% carminic acid on aluminium hydroxide are applied for cosmetic and textiles. Further information on processing, chemistry, use, cochineal cultivation and qualities can be taken from reviews by [10, 122 - 125].

**Figure 4.** Chemical structures of the typical constituents of cochineal (Glc = glucose).

Kermesic acid

In 1988, the worldwide cochineal production was 400 t [126], 300 t in 1997, 90% of which was from Peru, then the Canary Islands, and finally Mexico [9, 101]. Since 1990, Argentina, Bolivia, Chile, and South Africa have been enhancing their presence on the international cochineal market [10] and today Peru, the Canary Islands, and Chile are the main producers, followed by Mexico, Bolivia, South Africa, and Argentina [121]. During the 90es, market prizes of 60–100 USD rendered cochineal business profitable [26, 101]. Recently, cochineal is increasingly replaced by

cheaper synthetic alternatives or by other natural pigments of plant origin [9] possibly amplified by the increasing demand for kosher and halal foods [127] but also the spreading allergy issue [128]. Moreover, the market prize is highly fluctuating, depending on seasonal demands, origin and quality. As a result, cochineal production is suffering a serious decline and producers are therefore looking for alternative uses for their plantations. Besides fruit production [12] cactus stem processing represents an economically viable alternative.

# 5.6 Use as forage

Especially in periods of severe drought, the cladodes serve as supplementary fodder for cows, sheep, and goats in Brazil, Chile, California, Marocco, Mexico, South Africa, Texas, and Tunisia. They cover a considerable amount of the animals' water requirements, although mineral and protein supplements are recommended [101, 129]. Tunisia dedicates 500 000 ha to the cultivation of cactus as cattle feed, succeeded by Brazil and Mexico [130]. Wild Opuntia plants primarily used as cattle feed are O. cantabrigensis, O. lindheimeri, O. leucotricha, O. streptacantha, O. rastera, O. microdasys, O. pilifera, O. maxima, and O. robusta. Before feeding, the cladodes need to be burnt with propane to remove the spines [131]. Because of its laxative effect ascribed to the high oxalic acid content, a combination with straw is recommended. On the other hand, low phenolic and tannin contents of cactus stems facilitate digestion and improve meat production [130, 132]. Finally, taste and color improvement of milk was stated after feeding cactus pads [131]. An update on the use of cactus as forage can be taken from [133].

# 5.7 Fuel production

In the search for alternative combustibles, cladodes were subjected to fermentation. Reasonable yields were only achieved after acid (1 N HCl, 100°C, 30 min) and enzymatic hydrolyses (cellulase, 47°C, 4 h, pH 4.5) of cladodes releasing di- and monosaccharides for subsequent fermentation by *Saccharomyces* sp. [23]. The resulting yields were 9 L from 100 kg cladodes and therefore not competitive with fermented fruits. Whereas a conversion rate of 5–10 mL/100 mL fermentation broth was calculated to be economically feasible, only 1.77 was attained for the cladodes being far below the limit. On the basis of a plant density of 635–5000 per hectare, a mean of 300 L and 3000 L ethanol could be produced on nonirrigated and irrigated lands, respectively [23].

#### 5.8 Further uses in the nonfood sector

Cladode spines were patented as gramophone needles in 1928 [134]. When cladode extract was added to fuel the

combustion process could be improved [135]. The cladode mucilage was also proposed as a protecting agent against corrosion [136, 137]. In the countries of origin, the cladodes are added to building material to improve stability and compressibility [138]. Further uses such as clarification of waste water with cactus hydrocolloids are compiled elsewhere [5, 7, 8, 14, 26, 139].

# 6 Pharmacological profile

Traditionally, cactus pads contribute considerably to the human diet in Mexico and still serve as therapeutic agents. In folk medicine, especially *O. fuliginosa* and *O. streptacantha* have been used for the treatment of gastritis, fatigue, dyspnoe, and liver injury following alcohol abuse [140–142]. Traditionally, heated poltices were applied to treat rheumatic disorders, erythemas and chronic skin infections, but also to improve digestion and enhance the general "detoxification processes" [26]. Recently, positive effects of cladodes on hyperglycemy, acidosis, and artheriosclerosis were reported [118, 143]. Finally, a review on folk veterinary medicine compiles *Opuntia ficus-indica* as a plant species for ethnoveterinary use in Italy [144].

#### 6.1 Antioxidant capacity

The total phenols in an ethanolic cladode extract from lyophilized South Korean O. ficus-indica var. saboten were held responsible for the radical scavenging activity towards superoxide and hydroxyl anions. In addition, a cell growthregulating activity was noted [145]. When the antioxidant activity of cladode extracts were monitored, conclusive results were not obtained. The DPPH-assay proved that the 4'-hydroxy-substituted flavonoids, such as kaempferol, exhibited lower potency than their corresponding 3',4'-dihydroxy-derivatives (quercetin) (Fig. 5). Moreover, hydroxyl substitution at positions 3' and 7 proved to be essential for antioxidant activity. In the superoxide anion assay, the 4'-hydroxy compounds were superior being additionally increased by 3-methoxyl-substitution [83]. In a parallel investigation, the presence of quercetin, (+)-dihydroquercetin and quercetin-3-methyl ether in fruits and cladodes from Opuntia ficus-indica var. saboten was reported which proved to be efficient radical scavengers towards the neuronal cell damage caused by H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and xanthin/xanthinoxidase [146]. In the latter case, the methanolic cladode fraction was reextracted with ethyl acetate, dichloromethane, or *n*-butanol. Only the ethyl acetate fraction showed a higher activity than the methanol fraction. Again, quercetin 3-methylether was more effective than quercetin or (+)-dihydroquercetin underlining the importance of the double bond at position 2 and 3 and methylation at 3 (Fig. 5). A medical application of

**Figure 5.** Chemical structures of the most bioactive phenolics from cactus stem tissue.

these compounds has been patented recently [147]. According to [68] the processing temperature also affected the anti-oxidant potency of cladodes which was mainly ascribed to an increased extraction of the carotenoids  $\alpha\text{-cryptoxanthin},$   $\beta\text{-carotene},$  and lutein, respectively, while the phenolic contents was decreased.

# 6.2 Anti-inflammatory and analgesic effects

# 6.2.1 Analgesic action

An ethanolic extract of the cladodes (300–600 mg/kg body weight) from *O. ficus-indica* var. *saboten* showed a similar analgesic effect as acetylsalicylic acid (200 mg/kg body weight) [148] without toxic effects in mice (LD<sub>50</sub> > 2 g/kg body weight) even at high dosages.

# 6.2.2 Anti-inflammatory properties

Reduction of acute inflammation by ethanolic O. ficus indica stem extracts was ascribed to a lower leucocyte migration. In contrast to nonsteroidal inflammation inhibitors, no adverse effects were noted. Therefore, cladode extracts were proposed for inflammation treatment [148]. In further experiments with a methanolic extract from O. ficus-indica cladodes, the fractions obtained after re-extraction with hexane and ethyl acetate were most efficient to accelerate the healing process [65]. A follow-up study identified  $\beta$ -sitosterol to be the active principle [149]. Galati *et al.* [150] tested a wound-healing topical preparation containing 15% cladode extract. A fast regeneration of the tissue was ascribed to inflammation inhibition, stimulation of the fibroblast migration with accelerated collagen formation and faster angio-

genesis. Again, a low-molecular-weight compound was held responsible for the observed effect.

# 6.2.3 Antiulcerogenic effect

Furthermore, Lee *et al.* [151, 152] postulated an antiulcerogenic effect of the cladode or fruit powder from *O. ficus-indica* var. *saboten* Makino. Stomach lesions triggered by hydrochloric acid/ethanol or hydrochloric acid/acetylsalicylic acid were reduced, but no anti-inflammatory effect could be proven. The secretion rate of both gastric juice as well as the pH value remained constant. Galati *et al.* [153, 154] confirmed these results. However, the protective effect was ascribed to the cladodes' hydrocolloid acting as a buffer, spreading out on the gastric mucosa and increasing mucus production by enhancing the number of secretory cells.

# 6.3 Hypoglycemic and antidiabetic effect

Human studies in the 80es demonstrated glucose and insulin levels in healthy fasting subjects were stable when eating cladodes. The positive contribution to overall health in diabetes mellitus type II (non-insulin-dependent diabetes) patients was assumed to be due to a reduced postprandial sugar absorption. Following a glucose challenge test, the increase in insulin and glucose were retarded. Also, the glucose and insulin plasma levels were reduced. After 10 days of cladode ingestion prior to meals, a signifiant reduction of the serum glucose level was noticed [26, 155]. Since these effects did not depend on glucagon, cortisone, and human growth hormone levels, which are closely interrelated with glucose metabolism, a gastric enterohormone was held responsible for the hypoglycemic effect [26]. In an earlier report, the unidentified anti-diabetic factor was assumed to be of steroidal nature, presumably a saponin [4].

The efficiency of cladode preparations was underlined by [156] who investigated the hypoglycemic potential of O. ficus-indica cladodes on non-insulin-dependent diabetics. Both fried and and raw despined cladodes showed a therapeutic effect that could not be ascribed to the functional properties of the hydrocolloids. Moreover, the potency of the extract did not depend on temperature but on the comminution degree, whereby a finer grading was favorable [156]. Although the responsible principle could not be elucidated by [156–158], the hypoglycemic effect stayed away when the pancreatic tissue was removed from the animals prior to O. streptacantha ingestion [158]. The application of an ethanol extract from ground O. megacantha cladodes (20 mg/100g body weight over the period of 5 weeks) resulted in a weight decrease in diabetic animals, that could not be observed in healthy individuals. In both groups, the plasma glucose levels were decreased by about 20% [159]. However, the mechanism of these pharmacological effects could not be clarified.

It is worth to be noted that cladodes from O. streptacantha exerted hypoglycemic activity irrespective of the harvest time [160]. However, interspecific variations of the plant material and different application modes (oral, intravenous) have to be considered [161, 162]. In feeding trials with pigs, diabetic individuals exhibited reduced blood glucose levels 1 h after ingestion of an extract from O. lindheimeri Engelm. When 250 mg extract per kg body weight were applied, a 24% glucose decline was registered while at a 500 mg dose, even a reduction by 42% was noted [163]. Since diabetic pigs develop the same secondary injuries as humans such as microvascular eye and kidney damage as well as proliferating nonresponsiveness to insulin, this model should be preferred to tests on dogs, rabbits, rats, or mice. While neither the active component nor the underlying mechanism could be elucidated, it was suspected that a protein-like compound similar to insulin was responsible for the effects observed [163]. Based on a two-month study with regular consumption of O. fuliginosa Griffiths extract, a daily intake of 1 mg per kg body weight was recommended [164]. A decoct from dried O. streptacantha Lem. phylloclades showed an anti-hyperglycemic effect that was proposed as alternative to oral antidiabetics [165], thereby preventing insulin resistance. The hypoglycemic effect of Opuntia fruits that was also observed after cladode ingestion seemed to be related to improved sensibility of the pancreatic cells with a concomitant improved glucose usage [166]. These effects deserve special attention since the populations of developed countries are increasingly suffering from obesity and diabetes symptoms urgently requiring effective countermeasures [167–171].

# 6.4 Anti-hyperlipidemic and cholesterol-lowering effect

# 6.4.1 Anti-hyperlipidemic properties

The anti-hyperlipidemic effect after cladode ingestion was investigated only in recent studies [166, 172–177]. In general, a prolonged period of satiety was registered after cladode consumption. In a series of studies with Guinea pigs, Fernández *et al.* [173–175] demonstrated that the reduction of blood lipids triggered by isolated pectin from *Opuntia* was due to the enhanced binding of bile acid. It was concluded that through reduced bile absorption in the colon the enterohepatic circle was disrupted [173, 174]. In a follow-up study, the same authors presented evidence that the low-density lipoprotein (LDL)-catabolism was considered to be more important than the modulation and *de novo* synthesis in the liver [175]. The same pectic-like substances were held responsible for a decreased lipid absorption, lower blood lipid levels, and finally weight reduction [141].

# 6.4.2 Cholesterol-lowering properties

In a recent study it was shown that a daily consumption of 250 g of prickly pear pulp reduced the risk of thrombosis in

patients suffering from hyperlipidemia and diabetes [177]. The authors did not disclose whether the observed effects were due to fruit or cladode ingestion. In addition, the botanical origin of the plant material was not provided, however, O. robusta had been used by this group in earlier studies [166, 172, 176]. Wolfram et al. [166] reported a reduction of total cholesterol, LDL, apolipoprotein levels, triglycerides, fibrinogen, blood glucose, insulin and urate, while body weight, high-density lipoprotein (HDL)-cholesterol, apolipoprotein A-1 and lipoprotein A levels were found to remain unchanged. The anti-hyperlipidemic effects were ascribed to the pulp pectin, which both reduced lipid absorption and increased fecal sterol excretion, thus disrupting the enterohepatic circle. Since the level of 3-hydroxy-3-methyl-glutaryl-coenzyme A, the key enzyme of cholesterol biosynthesis, did not exhibit any activity changes, the reduced LDL levels and modified LDL composition were ascribed to an enhanced hepatic apo-B/Ereceptor [176]. These results were proven by the same authors when an enhanced activity of the apo-B/E-receptor in the human liver was found, resulting in an enhanced LDL degradation [176]. The exact mechanisms, however, still need to be elucidated.

# 6.5 Anti-atherogenic effect

Decreasing isoprostane levels in urine, serum and plasma as an indicator for oxidative stress and generally improved blood parameters levels were held responsible for the antiatherogenic effect of broiled *O. robusta* pulp [172]. Unfortunately, it was not clearly indicated whether the pulp was derived from the fruit or rather the cladode.

# 6.6 Diuretic effect and impact on uric acid metabolism

An ethanolic extract from O. megacantha was reported to decrease blood glucose but also affect kidney function in rats [178]. While sodium excretion was enhanced, potassium levels in urine decreased. In contrast, sodium, calcium, and magnesium levels in the plasma dropped, but phosphate, creatinine, and urea concentrations increased [178]. Both observations were related to the hormonal regulatory mechanisms of the kidney [159, 178]. In rats, uric acid excretion was enhanced and lower uric acid levels were detected in the serum after administration of an O. megacantha extract. Whether the latter effects can be ascribed to increased renal excretion or rather to an inhibition of uric acid synthesizing enzymes, such as xanthine oxidase, is still open. Anyhow, its potential for gout treatment was claimed to be promising [179]. In this context, oxalic acid needs to be taken into consideration since calcium availability was found to be decreased due to sequestration by oxalic acid and high oxalic acid contents resulted in an enhanced urinary calcium oxalate excretion [27].

After *Opuntia* extract ingestion, the water intake rose and the urine volume was increased [179]. Galati *et al.* [180] investigated the diuretic effect of a 15% extract from flowers, fruits, and peeled cladodes from *O. ficus-indica*, respectively. The latter showed the highest diuretic effect while urea levels in blood and urine remained unchanged. The diuretic effect was chiefly ascribed to the high potassium content of *Opuntia* cladodes amounting to 548 mg/kg. Nephrotoxic effects of the *Opuntia* extract could not unambiguously be clarified [178].

# 6.7 Further pharmacological effects

### 6.7.1 Antispermatogenic properties

A methanolic extract from *O. dillenii* Haw. defatted with chloroform and petroleum ether exerted antispermatogenic effects in animal tests on rats. According to [76], the flavone derivatives vitexin and myricetin (Fig. 2) were found to be the active principles. When 250 mg extract per kg body weight was applied, the weight of testis, epididymis, seminal vesicle, and ventral prostate were reasonably, that of Sertoli cells, Leydig cells, and gametes considerably reduced. The motility of the sperms was also diminished [76]. Unfortunately, data about the solvent used for extraction are missing.

# 6.7.2 Antiviral properties

A cladode extract from *O. streptacantha* Lem. was reported to exhibit antiviral properties towards DNA viruses, such as herpes, and RNA viruses, such as influenza type A and human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-1. The active principle was located in the outer noncuticular tissue and ascribed to a protein with unknown mechanisms of action [181]. Both the replication of DNA and RNA viruses was inhibited while the extract from the parenchyma acted both preventively and post-infectionary. In security tests on mice, horses (27 g/day over the period of 2–4 weeks) and finally humans (6 g/day for 1 month or 3 g/d over 6 months), all dosages were well tolerated [181].

# 6.7.3 Monoamino-oxidase inhibition

Besides catecholmethyltransferases, the monoamino-oxidases (MAOs) are usually involved in the catabolism of catecholamines, thus regulating the overall amine pool [182]. In cladodes and fruits from the Korean *O. ficus-indica* var. *saboten* Makino, methyl esters derived from organic acids were identified as MAO inhibitors [183]. The aqueous extracts showed least inhibitory activity, followed by the *n*-butanol fraction and the hexane extract whereas the ethyl acetate fraction exerted the highest inhibitory action. The

active agents were identified as 1-methyl malate, 1-monomethyl citrate, 1,3-dimethylcitrate, and 1,2,3-trimethylcitrate. The purified components showed MAO-A inhibitory action with increasing number of methyl substituents, whilst the MAO-B inhibitory action was superior for 1-methylmalate compared to the mono- and dimethylcitrates. However, 1,2,3-trimethylcitrate exerted the strongest inhibition on both MAOs. When citrate was compared with its corresponding methyl derivatives, the methoxy moiety proved to be the effective moiety [183]. However, the authors did not disclose the extraction procedure applied. Since prolonged storage, especially under acidic conditions, may result in free carboxylic group derivatization, the formation of these derivatives during sample workup needs to be ruled out prior to further pharmacological testing.

# 7 Summary and perspectives

# 7.1 Chemistry

Since the composition of plant materials greatly depends on the edaphic factors, age, and respective species, quality may change greatly. On the other hand, targeting towards specific properties selectively applying this knowledge is possible: while the acid and sugar is subject to diurnal changes, protein, and fiber content depend on the age, fertilization, and storage practices applied. In view of the literature data presented, there is much to be done to fully assess the potential of *Opuntia* cladodes. Little is known about the amino acid and amine composition to evaluate both the nutritional, pharmacological, and toxicological potential of cladodes.

The analyses of malic and citric acids but also vitamin C may be helpful for nutritional and sensorial evaluation of the respective *Opuntia* sp. studied. Free and bound oxalic acids, but also rare compounds such as phorbic and piscidic acids could be valuable markers for specific species and their respective physiological stage. It would be of particular interest to examine whether the methyl derivatives of malic and citric acids are genuine compounds of the cladodes with the respective pharmacological properties or rather extraction artifacts. In addition, the presence and quantity of alkaloids in *Opuntia* spp. should be checked. In the light of recent reviews, promoting the knowledge of phenolic constituents in the everyday diet as well as their impact on human health (e.g., [184–186]), in-depth studies on the phenolic constituents deserve special attention.

#### 7.2 Potential applications

#### 7.2.1 Food

With the exception of Mexico, fresh cladodes and products derived therefrom are still rare on the European, Asian, and US market and can only be encountered more often in California. While the potential of cladode vegetable does not appear too attractive, processed cactus stems implemented into refined products for the food, pharmaceutical, and cosmetic sector may present a more rewarding avenue for future markets.

The potential of the meanwhile well-characterized mucilages and pectins from the cladodes is not at all exploited. Cactus cladodes could find broad acceptance either as gelling or thickening agent but also as emulsifier in nonalcoholic beverages or dairy products. The interaction between the amphiphilic protein fraction (mucilage) and the polyanion (pectin) was claimed to be of utmost importance for the emulsifying properties [90, 115, 116] while others claim the sole hydrocolloid fraction to be sufficient [190, 191]. Incompatibility (segregation), co-solubility, and complexation (association) behaviors of protein-polysaccharide blends have been discussed recently [192, 193]. In this respect, it needs to be investigated how variations of the pectin:mucilage ratio will affect the technological properties. Precipitation, fertilization practices, cultivation temperatures, and species-dependent differences need to be considered [22, 194]. Transferring the physiological properties of hydrocolloids in plants [195] to their functional properties in food would be worthwhile for profitable technological use. The ratio of rhamnose and uronic acids is of major interest, since the former will affect hydrophobicity while the latter is governing hydrophilicity of the macromolecule [196]. Since hydrocolloid compositions depend on the respective extraction procedure, the latter needs to be carefully designed [92, 197, 198]. Furthermore, the compatibility of the cactus constituents with the respective target food should be checked.

Pintado *et al.* [199] isolated a protein fraction from unripe cactus fruits with coagulant and caseinolytic activities. Hence, its use as a substitute for chymosin, as a plant-derived rennet was suggested. In extracts from frozen cladodes, however, only marginal proteolytic activities were found [200] which could be due to protein-pectin interactions [201]. Future studies in this area seem to be of interest. With the increasing demand for kosher [127] and genetically modified organisms (GMO)-free foods, *Opuntia* could be a novel source of proteolytic activities besides cleaver (*Galium verum* L.), various thistles, such as artichoke (*Cynara* sp.) [202, 203], fig [204–206], kiwi [207, 208], papaya [209], and pineapple [210], respectively.

# 7.2.2 Pharmaceutical and cosmetic applications

Not only the biofunctional properties but also the assumed role of cladode polysaccharides in the medicinal sector are interesting such as cholesterol reduction and its preventive action in diabetes and adipositas therapies [5, 26, 211, 212].

Since the hydrocolloid fraction is also rich in proteins, further research should be conducted whether the alleged positive effects are due to the pectic substances or rather to the protein fraction. Furthermore, it should be investigated whether these proteins are acting as heat-shock and antifreeze proteins [213–220] in the cactus tissue [221, 222]. Whether the same proteins acting as repair molecules in plants could be used for pharmaceutical purposes merits further consideration. Special attention should also be given to the oligosaccharide fraction that has not been characterized so far. Immunomodulatory properties have been postulated for glucans from roots of Periandra mediterranea (Vell.) Taub. [223] and glucomannans from Aloe sp. [224]. According to a very recent publication [225], small oligosaccharides with a polymerization degree of 6 and above with a tendency to form helical structures are potent immune modulators.

For topical applications, *Opuntia* hydrocolloids could be applied in wound creams (cooling cream) similar to *Aloe vera* (L.) Burm. [224, 226, 227]. Analogously, cosmetic products would profit from cladode preparations. Since luteolin is known to reduce cholesterol considerably by indirect inhibition of 3-HMG-CoA reductase, the key enzyme for cholesterol biosynthesis [228], the action of flavonoids on cholesterol metabolism would be attractive to be pursued. Furthermore, both a dose-dependent and a structure-related bioactivity was demonstrated for flavonoids either stimulating or attenuating cholesterol formation [229]. Finally, sterol ingestion has been inversely correlated with cholesterol absorption and compensatory stimulation of cholesterol synthesis [230].

Many more compound-activity relations may be discovered in the future. This assumption is substantiated by the multiple uses of *Aloe* sp. [224] which bioactivities cannot only be ascribed to its hydrocolloids such as acemannan but rather to the great diversity of low-molecular-weight constituents of the plant [231].

#### 8 Conclusions

In summary, the constituents of *Opuntia* cladodes are only partly known and often not quantitatively determined. Investigations were mostly performed 20 years ago and need to be validated with up-to-date methods. Furthermore, data stem from all kinds of different *Opuntia* spp. and it is open to question whether the botanical classification has properly been assessed in each case. Beside a sound systematic classification, the background of cladode physiology needs to be considered. Based on additional data, a reliable nutritional evaluation can be performed. The technofunctional properties of the respective extracts can be efficiently exploited for manifold food, cosmetic and medicinal

applications. Analogies to the multiple uses of *Aloe* sp. are obvious. Whether isolated substances or rather a concerted action of several components in the complex plant matrix are responsible for the big variety of biological activities remains unknown, let alone the underlying mechanisms of the traditional curative treatments being still little understood.

The financial support by Obipektin AG Bischofszell (Switzerland) is gratefully acknowledged.

### 9 References

- [1] Mohamed-Yasseen, Y., Barringer, S. A., Splittstoesser, W. E., A note on the uses of *Opuntia* spp. in Central/North America. *J. Arid Environ.* 1996, *32*, 347–353.
- [2] Nobel, P. S., Environmental Biology, in: Barbera, G., Inglese, P., Pimienta-Barrios, E. (Eds.), Agro-ecology, Cultivation and Uses of Cactus Pear, FAO-Plant Production and Protection Paper, Rome 1995, 132, pp. 36–48.
- [3] Inglese, P., Basile, F., Schirra, M., Cactus per fruit production, in: Nobel, P. S. (Ed.), *Cacti. Biology and Uses*, University of California Press, Berkeley, Los Angeles, London 2002, pp. 163–183.
- [4] Cruse, R. R., Desert Plant Chemurgy: a current review. *Econ. Bot.* 1973, *27*, 210–230.
- [5] Domínguez López, A., Revisión: Empleo de los frutos y de los cladodios de la chumbera (*Opuntia* spp.) en la alimentacion humana. *Food Sci. Technol. Int.* 1995, 1, 65–74.
- [6] Hamdi, M., Prickly pear cladodes and fruits as a potential raw material for the bioindustries. *Bioprocess Engineer*. 1997, 17, 387–391.
- [7] Meyer, B. N., McLaughlin, J. L., Economic uses of *Opuntia*. *Cactus Succulent J.* 1981, *53*, 107–112.
- [8] Vigueras, G. A. L., Portillo, L., Uses of *Opuntia* species and the potential impact of *Cactoblastis cactorum* (Lewpidoptera: Pyralidae) in Mexico. *Florida Entomol.* 2001, 84, 493– 498.
- [9] Mizrahi, Y., Nerd, A., Nobel, P. S., Cacti as crops. Hort. Rev. 1997, 18, 291–320.
- [10] Sáenz-Hernández, C., Corrales-Garcia, J., Aquino-Pérez, G., Nopalitos, mucilage, fiber, and cochineal, in: Nobel, P. S. (Ed.), Cacti. Biology and Uses, University of California Press, Berkeley, Los Angeles, London 2002, pp. 211–234.
- [11] Castellar, R., Obón, J. M., Alacid, M., Fernández-López, J. A., Color properties and stability of betacyanins from *Opuntia* fruits. J. Agric. Food Chem. 2003, 51, 2772–2776.
- [12] Stintzing, F. C., Schieber, A., Carle, R., Phytochemical and nutritional significance of cactus pear. *Eur. Food Res. Tech*nol. 2001, 212, 396–407.
- [13] Stintzing, F. C., Schieber, A., Carle, R., Evaluation of colour properties and chemical quality parameters of cactus juices. *Eur. Food Res. Technol.* 2003, *216*, 303–311.
- [14] Anderson, E. F., *The Cactus Family*, Timber Press, Portland, OR 2001, pp. 15–72.
- [15] Pritchard, H. N., Hall, J. A., The chemical composition of glochids from *Opuntia. Can. J. Botany* 1976, 54, 173–176.

- [16] Malainine, M. E., Dufresne, A., Dupeyre, D., Mahrouz, M., Vuong, R., Vignon, M. R., Structure and morphology of cladodes and spines of *Opuntia ficus-indica*. Cellulose extraction and characterisation. *Carbohydr. Polym.* 2003, 51, 77– 83.
- [17] Vignon, R., Heux, L., Malainine, M.-E., Mahrouz, M., Arabinan-cellulose composite in *Opuntia ficus-indica* prickly pear spines. *Carbohydr. Res.* 2004, 339, 123–131.
- [18] Batista, A. M., Mustafa, A. F., McAllister, T., Wang, Y., Soita, H., McKinnon, J. J., Effects of variety on chemical composition, in situ nutrient disappearance and in vitro gas production of spineless cacti. J. Sci. Food Agric. 2003, 83, 440–445.
- [19] Retamal, N., Durán, J. M., Fernández, J., Seasonal variations of chemical composition in prickly pear (*Opuntia ficus-indica* (L.) Miller). J. Sci. Food Agric. 1987, 38, 303-311.
- [20] Rodríguez-Felix, A., Cantwell, M., Developmental changes in composition and quality of prickly pear cactus cladodes (nopalitos). *Plant Foods Hum. Nutr.* 1988, 38, 83–93.
- [21] Malainine, M. E., Dufresne, A., Dupeyre, D., Vignon, M. R., Mahrouz, M., First evidence of weddelite crystallites in *Opuntia ficus-indica* parenchyma. *Z. Naturforsch./Biosci.* 2003, 58c, 812–815.
- [22] Pimienta-Barrios, E., Vegetable cactus (*Opuntia*), in: Williams, J. T. (Ed.), *Pulses and Vegetables*, Chapman & Hall, London 1993, pp. 177–191.
- [23] Retamal, N., Durán, J. M., Fernández, J. Ethanol production by fermentation of fruits and cladodes of prickly pear cactus. [*Opuntia ficus-indica* (L.) Miller]. *J. Sci. Food Agric*. 1987, 40, 213–218.
- [24] Sutton, B. G., Ting, I. P., Sutton, R., Carbohydrate metabolism of cactus in a desert environment. *Plant Physiol.* 1981, 68, 784–787.
- [25] Murillo-Amador, B., Troyo Diéguez, E., Nieto Garibay, A., Aguilar García, M., El nopal: cultivo forrajero sostenible para el noroeste de México. Centro de Investigaciones Biológicas del Noroeste S.C., La Paz, Mexico 2002.
- [26] Muñoz de Chávez, M., Chávez, A., Valles, V., Roldán, J. A., The nopal: a plant of manifold qualities. World Rev. Nutr. Dietetics 1995, 77, 109–134.
- [27] McConn, M. M., Nakata, P. A., Oxalate reduces calcium availability in the pads of the prickly pear cactus through formation of calcium oxalate crystals. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 2004, 52, 1371–1374.
- [28] Teles, F. F. F., Stull, J. W., Brown, W. H., Whiting, F. M., Amino and organic acids of the prickly pear cactus (*Opuntia ficus-indica* L.). J. Sci. Food Agric. 1984, 35, 421–425.
- [29] Teles, F. F. F., Price, R. L., Whiting, F. M., Reid, B. L., Circadian variation of non-volatile organic acids in the prickly pear (*Opuntia ficus-indica* L.). Rev. Ceres 1994, 41, 614–622.
- [30] Nordal, A., Krogh, A., Ogner, G., Further observations on the occurrence of phorbic acid in plants. *Acta Chem. Scand.* 1965, 19, 1705–1708.
- [31] Nordal, A., Resser, D., The non-volatile acids of succulent plants exhibiting a marked diurnal oscillation in their acid content. II. Demonstration of piscidic acid as one of the predominating acids in *Opuntia ficus-indica*. *Acta Chem. Scand*. 1966, 20, 1431–1432.
- [32] Nordal, A., Resser, D., The non-volatile acids of succulent plants exhibiting a marked diurnal oscillation in their acid content. III. The acids of *Kleinia repens* (L.) Haw., *Begonia* tuberhybrida (Hort.) and *Mesembryanthemum criniflorum* L. fil. Acta Chem. Scand. 1966, 20, 2004–2007.

- [33] Kruse, S. O., Löhning, A., Pauli, G. F., Winterhoff, H., Nahrstedt, A., Fukiic and piscidic acid esters from the rhizome of *Cimicifuga racemosa* and the *in vitro* estrogenic activity of fukinolic acid. *Planta Med.* 1999, 65, 763–764.
- [34] Jianqin, J., Wencai, Y., Zhen, C., Fengchang, L., Zhida, M., Two new phenolic carboxylic acid esters from *Opuntia vulgaris*. *J. Chin. Pharmaceut*. *Sci.* 2002, *11*, 1–3.
- [35] Teles, F. F., Whiting, F. M., Price, R. L., Brown, W. H., Reid, B. L., Wegner, T. N., Renuncio, E., Prickly pear (*Opuntia ficus-indica*) cactus as a source of vitamin A. *Rev. Ceres* 1994, 41, 396–406.
- [36] Borland, A. M., Taybi, T., Synchronization of metabolic processes in plants with crassulacean acid metabolism. *J. Exp. Bot.* 2004, *55*, 1255–1265.
- [37] Nobel, P. S., Bobich, E. G., Environmental Biology, in: Nobel, P. S. (Ed.), *Cacti. Biology and Uses*, University of California Press, Berkeley, Los Angeles, London 2002, pp. 57–74.
- [38] Ting, I. P., Crassulacean Acid Metabolism. Ann. Rev. Plant Physiol. 1985, 36, 595–622.
- [39] Winter, K., Smith, J. A. C. (Eds.), Crassulacean Acid Metabolism. Biochemistry, Ecophysiology and Evolution. Ecological Studies 114, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York 1996.
- [40] Monje, P. V., Baran, E. J., Characterization of calcium oxalates generated as biominerals in cacti. *Plant Physiol.* 2002, 128, 707-713.
- [41] Trachtenberg, S., Mayer, A. M., Mucilage cells, calcium oxalate crystals and soluble calcium in *Opuntia ficus-indica*. *Ann. Bot.* 1982, *50*, 549–557.
- [42] Teles, F. F. F., Whiting, F. M., Price, R. L., Borges, V. E. L., Protein and amino acids of nopal (*Opuntia ficus-indica* L.). *Rev. Ceres* 1997, 44, 205–214.
- [43] Wehren, W., Eignung und Futterwert, besonders Aminosäurezusammensetzung von unkonventionellen Proteinquellen in semi-ariden Gebieten Tunesiens. Dissertation, Universität Bonn, 1976; cit. in Nefzaoui, A., Ben Salem, H., Forage, fodder, and animal nutrition, in: Nobel, P. S. (Ed.), Cacti. Biology and Uses, University of California Press, Berkeley, Los Angeles, London 2002, pp. 199–210.
- [44] Brückner, H., Westhauser, T., Chromatographic determination of L- and D-amino acids in plants. *Amino Acids* 2003, 24, 43–55.
- [45] Lee, Y. C., Hwang, K. H., Han, D. H., Kim, S. D., Compositions of *Opuntia ficus-indica*. Kor. J. Food Sci. Technol. 1999, 29, 847–853.
- [46] Flores-Hernández, A., Murillo-Amador, B., García-Hernández, J. L., Fraga-Palomino, H. C., Concentración de prolina en brotes de cultivares de nopal (*Opuntia megacantha*) sometidos a estreés por calor. *Phyton* 2001, 65, 15–24.
- [47] Chauhan, R. P. S., Singh, M., Singh, S., Singh, B. B., Singh, R. K., Free proline accumulation in plants, in: Singh, B. B., Mengel, K. (Eds.), *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry*. Panima Publishing Corp., New Delhi 1995, pp. 193–208.
- [48] Delauney, A. J., Verma, D. P. S., Proline biosynthesis and osmoregulation in plants. *Plant J.* 1993, 4, 215–223.
- [49] Hare, P. D., Cress, W. A., Metabolic implications of stressinduced proline accumulation in plants. *Plant Growth Regul*. 1997, 21, 79–102.
- [50] Heuer, B., Osmoregulatory role of proline in plants exposed to environmental stresses, in: Pessarakli, M. (Ed.), *Handbook* of *Plant and Crop Stress*, Marcel Dekker, New York 1999, pp. 677–695.

- [51] Rabe, E., Stress physiology: The functional significance of the accumulation of nitrogen-containing compounds. *J. Hort. Sci.* 1990, *65*, 231–243.
- [52] Deidda, P., Tekle, Z., Nieddu, G., Pintus, G., Pinna, G. G., Sisini, A., Polyamine levels during onset of « CAM » in Opuntia f. indica (Miller). Amino Acids 1994, 7, 203–209.
- [53] Nieddu, G., Chessa, I., Deidda, P., Tekle, Z., Changes in CAM activity ABA, and PAs in *Opuntia ficus-indica* as response to drought. *Acta Hort*. 1997, 438, 97–104.
- [54] El-Moghazy, A. M., El-Syyad, S. M., Abdel-Baky, A. M., Bechait, E. Y., A phytochemical study of *Opuntia ficus-indica* (L.) Mill. cultivated in Egypt. *Egypt. J. Pharmaceut.* Sci. 1982, 23, 247–254.
- [55] Vanderveen, R. L., West, L. G., McLaughlin, J. L., N-methyltyramine from *Opuntia clavata*. *Phytochemistry* 1974, 13, 866–867.
- [56] Pardanani, J. H., Meyer, B. N., McLaughlin, J. L., Cactus alkaloids. XXXVII. Mescaline and related compounds from Opuntia spinosior. Lloydia 1978, 41, 286–288.
- [57] Meyer, B. N., Mohamed, Y. A. H., McLaughlin, J. L., β-Phenethylamines from the cactus genus *Opuntia*. *Phytochemistry* 1980, 19, 719–720.
- [58] De Vries, J. X., Moyna, P., Díaz, V., Alcaloides de cactos del Uruguay. Rev. Latinoameric. Quim. 1971, 2, 21–23.
- [59] Nieto, M., Alcaloides de Cactaceas. Estudio de cinco especies argentinas. Anales Asoc. Quím. Argentina 1987, 75, 11–13
- [60] Brown, S. D., Massingill jr., J. L., Hodgkins, J. E., Cactus alkaloids. *Phytochemistry* 1968, 7, 2031–2036.
- [61] Domínguez, X. A., Rojas, P., Gutiérrez, M., Armenta, N., de Lara, G., Estudio químico preliminar de 31 cactáceas. Rev. Soc. Quím. México 1969, 13, 8A-12A.
- [62] Gibson, A. C., Nobel, P. S., *The Cactus Primer*, Harvard University Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts, London 1990, pp. 188–208.
- [63] Wagner, H., Grevel, J., Neue herzwirksame Drogen II, Nachweis und Isolierung herzwirksamer Amine durch Ionenpaar-HPLC. Planta Med. 1982, 44, 36–40.
- [64] Salt, T. A., Tocker, J. E., Adler, J. H., Dominance of Δ<sup>5</sup>-sterols in eight species of the Cactaceae. *Phytochemistry* 1987, 26, 731–737.
- [65] Park, E.-H., Chun, M.-J., Wound healing activity of *Opuntia ficus-indica*. *Fitoterapia* 2001, 72, 165–167.
- [66] Guevara, J. C., Yahia, E. M., Brito de la Fuente, E., Modified atmosphere packaging of prickly pear cactus stems (*Opuntia* spp.). *Lebensm. Wiss. Technol.* 2001, 34, 445–451.
- [67] Rodríguez-Felix, A., Villegas-Ochoa, M. A., Quality of cactus stems (*Opuntia ficus-indica*) during low-temperature storage. *J. Profess. Assoc. Cactus Develop.* 1997, 2, 142–151.
- [68] Jaramillo-Flores, M. E., González-Cruz, L., Cornejo-Mazón, M., Dorantes-Álvarez, L., Gutiérrez-López, G. F., Hernández-Sánchez, H., Effect of thermal treatment on the antioxidant activity and content of carotenoids and phenolic compounds of cactus pear cladodes (*Opuntia ficus-indica*). Food Sci. Technol. Int. 2003, 9, 271–278.
- [69] Barua, A. B., Olson, J. A., Reversed-phase gradient high-performance liquid chromatographic procedure for simultaneous analysis of very polar to nonpolar retinoids, carotenoids and tocopherols in animal and plant samples. *J. Chromatogr. B* 1998, 707, 69–79.

- [70] Huck, C. W., Popp, M., Scherz, H. Bonn, G. K., Development and evaluation of a new method for the determination of the carotenoid content in selected vegetables by HPLC and HPLC-MS-MS. J. Chromatogr. Sci. 2000, 38, 441–449.
- [71] Humphries, J. M., Khachik, F., Distribution of lutein, zeaxanthin, and related geometrical isomers in fruit, vegetables, wheat, and pasta products. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 2003, 51, 1322–1327.
- [72] Kimura, M., Rodriguez-Amaya, D. B., Carotenoid composition of hydroponic leafy vegetables. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 2003, 51, 2603–2607.
- [73] Iwatani, Y., Arcot, J., Shrestha, A. K., Determination of folate contents in some Australian vegetables. *J. Food Comp. Anal.* 2003, 16, 37–48.
- [74] Van het Hof, K. H., Tijburg, L. B., Pietrzik, K., Weststrate, J. A., Influence of feeding different vegetables on plasma levels of carotenoids, folate and vitamin C. Effect of disruption of the vegetable matrix. *Br. J. Nutr.* 1999, 82, 203–212.
- [75] Rodríguez-Felix, A., Postharvest physiology and technology of cactus pear fruits and cactus leaves. *Acta Hort*. 2002, 581, 191–199.
- [76] Gupta, R. S., Sharma, R., Sharma, A., Chaudhudery, R., Bhat-nager, A. K., Dobha, M. P., Joshi, Y. C., Sharma, M. C., Anti-spermatogenic effect and chemical investigation of *Opuntia dillenii*. *Pharmaceut*. *Biol*. 2002, 40, 411–415.
- [77] Burret, F., Rabesa, Z., Zandonella, P., Voirin, B., Contribution biochimique à la systématique de l'ordre des Centrospermales. *Biochem. System. Ecol.* 1981, 9, 257–262.
- [78] Richardson, M., Flavonols and *C*-glycosylflavonoids of the Caryophyllales. *Biochem. System. Ecol.* 1978, 6, 283–286.
- [79] Burret, F., Lebreton, P., Voirin, B., Les aglycones flavoniques de cactees: distribution, signification. J. Nat. Prod. 1982, 45, 687–693.
- [80] Cockel, C. S., Knowland, J., Ultraviolet radiation screening compounds. *Biol. Rev.* 1999, 74, 311–345.
- [81] Krause, G. H., Gallé, A., Gademann, R., Winter, K., Capacity of protection against ultraviolet radiation in sun and shade leaves of tropical forest plants. *Funct. Plant Biol.* 2003, 30, 533–542.
- [82] Teramura, A. H., Effects of ultraviolet-B radiation on the growth and yield of crop plants. *Physiol. Plant.* 1983, 58, 415–427.
- [83] Qiu, Y., Chen, Y., Pei, Y., Matsuda, H., Yoshikawa, M., Constituents with radical scavenging effect from *Opuntia dillenii*, Structures of new α-pyrones and flavonol-glycoside. *Chem. Pharmaceut. Bull.* 2002, 50, 1507–1510.
- [84] Qiu, Y., Chen, Y., Pei, Y., Matsuda, H., Yoshikawa, M., New constituents from the fresh stems of *Opuntia dillenii*. *J. Chin. Pharmaceut*. *Sci.* 2003, *12*, 1–5.
- [85] Ganguly, A. K., Govindachari, T. R., Mohamed, P. A., Structure of opuntiol, a constituent of *Opuntia elatior*. *Phytochemistry* 1965, 21, 93–99.
- [86] Telang, S. A., 2-Hydroxymethyl-4-methoxy-α-pyrone from Opuntia polyacantha. Phytochemistry 1973, 12, 2059.
- [87] Ben-Thlija, A., Nutritional value of several *Opuntia* species. Master Thesis, Oregon State University, Corvallis/USA, 1987; cit. in: Nefzaoui, A., Ben Salem, H., Forage, fodder, and animal nutrition, in: Nobel, P. S. (Ed.), *Cacti. Biology and Uses*, University of California Press, Berkeley, Los Angeles, London 2002, pp. 199–210.
- [88] Nobel, P. S., Cavelier, J., Andrade, J. L., Mucilage in cacti: Its apoplastic capacitance associated solutes, and influence on tissue water relations. *J. Exp. Botany* 1992, *43*, 641–648.

- [89] Diacono, H., Massa, V., A new source of pectin: Opuntia vulgaris. Hemostatic properties of pectin. Ann. Pharmaceut. Francaises 1948, 6, 457–461.
- [90] Majdoub, H., Roudesli, S., Deratini, A., Polysaccharides from prickly pear peel and nopals of *Opuntia ficus-indica*, extraction, characterization and polyelectrolyte behaviour. *Polymer Int.* 2001, 50, 552–560.
- [91] Majdoub, H., Roudesli, S., Picton, L., Le Cerf, D., Muller, G., Grisel, M., Prickly pear nopals pectin from *Opuntia ficus-indica* physicochemical study in dilute and semidilute solutions. *Carbohydr. Polym.* 2001, 46, 69–79.
- [92] Goycoolea, F. M., Cárdenas, A., Pectins from *Opuntia* spp.: a short review. *J. Profess. Assoc. Cactus Develop.* 2003, 5, 17–29
- [93] Uchoa, A. F., Souza, P. A. S., Zarate, R. M. L., Gomes-Filho, E., Campos, F. A. P., Isolation and characterization of a reserve protein from the seeds of Opuntia ficus-indica (Cactaceae). Brazil. J. Med. Biol. Res. 1998, 31, 757–761.
- [94] Karawya, M. S., Wassel, G. M., Baghdadi, H. H., Ammar, N. M., Mucilages and pectins of *Opuntia*, *Tamarindus* and *Cydonia*. *Planta Med*. 1980, *Supplement*, 68–75.
- [95] Vignon, M. R., Gey, C., Isolation, <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR studies of (4-O-methyl-D-glucurono)-D-xylans from luffa fruit fibres, jute bast fibres and mucilage quince tree seeds. *Car-bohydr. Res.* 1998, 307, 107–111.
- [96] Whistler, R.L., Introduction to industrial gums, in: Whistler, R. L., BeMiller, J. N. (Eds.), *Industrial Gums: Polysacchar-ides and their Derivatives*, 3rd edition, Academic Press, San Diego, CA 1993, pp. 1–20.
- [97] Cárdenas, A., Higuera-Cuiapara, I., Goycoolea, F. M., Rheology and aggregation of cactus (*Opuntia ficus-indica*) mucilage in solution. *J. Profess. Assoc. Cactus Develop.* 1997, 2, 152–159.
- [98] Master, R. W. P., Amino acids in Nopalea cochinellifera. Experientia 1959, 15, 29–30.
- [99] Master, R. W. P., Organic acid and carbohydrate metabolism in *Nopalea cochinellifera*. *Experientia* 1959, *15*, 30–31.
- [100] Nerd, A., Dumoutier, M., Mizrahi, Y., Properties and postharvest behavior of the vegetable cactus *Nopalea cochenilli*fera. Postharv. Biol. Technol. 1997, 10, 135–143.
- [101] Felker, P., Singh, G., Pareek, O. P., Opportunities for development of cactus (*Opuntia* spp.) in arid and semi-arid regions. *Ann. Arid Zone* 1997, 36, 267–278.
- [102] Singh, G., General review of *Opuntias* in India. *J. Profess. Assoc. Cactus Develop.* 2003, 5, 30–46.
- [103] Lüttge, U., Ecophysiology of crassulacean acid metabolism (CAM). Ann. Bot. 2004, 93, 629-652.
- [104] Nobel, P. S., Achievable productivities of certain CAM plants: basis for high values compared with C3 and C4 plants. *New Phytol*. 1991, *119*, 183–205.
- [105] Drennan, P. M., Nobel, P. S., Responses of CAM species to increasing atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> concentrations. *Plant Cell Environ*. 2000, 23, 767–781.
- [106] Nobel, P. S., Israel, A. A., Cladode development, environmental responses of CO<sub>2</sub> uptake, and productivity for *Opuntia ficus-indica* under elevated CO<sub>2</sub>. *J. Exp. Bot.* 1994, 45, 295–303.
- [107] Nobel, P. S., Pimienta-Barrios, E., Zañudo Hernández, J., Ramírez-Hernández, B., Historical aspects and net CO<sub>2</sub> uptake for cultivated Crassulacean acid metabolism plants in Mexico. *Ann. Appl. Biol.* 2002, 140, 133-142.

- [108] Flores-Valdez, C. A., Nopalitos production, processing and marketing, in: Barbera, G., Inglese, P., Pimienta-Barrios, E. (Eds.), Agro-ecology, Cultivation and Uses of Cactus Pear, FAO-Plant Production and Protection Paper, Rome 1995, 132, 92-99.
- [109] Cantwell, M., Post-harvest management of fruits and vegetable stems, in: Barbera, G., Inglese, P., Pimienta-Barrios, E. (Eds.), Agro-ecology, Cultivation and Uses of Cactus Pear, FAO-Plant Production and Protection Paper, Rome 1995, 132, 120-136.
- [110] Cantwell, M., Rodríguez-Felix, A., Robles-Contreras, F., Postharvest physiology of prickly pear cactus stems. *Scientia Hort*. 1992, *50*, 1–9.
- [111] Corrales-García, J., Pena-Valdivia, C. B., Razo-Martínez, Y., Sánchez-Hernández, M., Acidity changes and pH-buffering capacity of nopalitos (*Opuntia* spp.). *Postharv. Biol. Technol.* 2004, 32, 169–174.
- [112] Guevara, J. C., Yahia, E. M., Brito de la Fuente, E., Biserka, S. P., Effects of elevated concentrations of CO<sub>2</sub> in modified atmosphere packaging on the quality of prickly pear cactus stems (*Opuntia* spp.). *Postharv. Biol. Technol.* 2003, 29, 167–176.
- [113] Sáenz, C., Cactus pear fruit and cladodes: a source of functional components for foods. *Acta Hort.* 2002, *581*, 253–263.
- [114] Sáenz, C. H., Usi potenziali del frutto e dei cladodi di ficodindia nell'industria alimentare. Riv. Frutticolt. 1997, 12, 47-51.
- [115] Medina-Torres, L., Brito-de-la-Fuente, E., Torrestiana-Sanchez, B., Katthain, R., Rheological properties of the mucilage gum (Opuntia ficus indica). Food Hydrocoll. 2000, 14, 417–424.
- [116] Medina-Torres, L., Brito-de-la-Fuente, E., Torrestiana-Sanchez, B., Alonso, S., Mechanical properties of gels formed by mixtures of mucilage gum (*Opuntia ficus-indica*) and carrageenans. *Carbohydr. Polym.* 2003, 52, 143–150.
- [117] Mulas, M., Medicinal properties and yield possibilities of the prickly pear (*Opuntia* spp.) in the Mediterranean environment. *Acta Hort.* 1993, 331, 79–84.
- [118] Warschkow, S., Warschkow, K., Hair loss treatment and hair growth promoter – comprises drink and hair gel containing cold pressed juice of meristematic tissue of cacti plants and pampa grass. DE Patent 4331252 (19. 05. 1994).
- [119] Sáenz, C., Estévez, A. M., Fonatnot, M., Pak, N., Oatmeal cookies enriched with cactus pear flour as dietary fiber. *Acta Hort*. 2002, 581, 275–278.
- [120] González, M., Méndez, J., Carnero, A., Lobo, M. G., Alfonso, A., Optimizing conditions for the extraction of pigments in cochineals (*Dactylopius coccus* Costa) using response surface methodology. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 2002, 50, 6968–6974.
- [121] Méndez, J., González, M., Lobo, M. G., Carnero, A., Color quality of pigments in cochineals (*Dactylopius coccus* Costa). Geographical characterization using multivariate statistical analysis. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 2004, 52, 1331– 1337.
- [122] Schweppe, H., Handbuch der Naturfarbstoffe, ecomed Verlagsgesellschaft, Hamburg 1993, pp. 255–281.
- [123] Flores-Flores, V., Tekelenburg, A., Dacti (*Dactylopius coccus* Costa) dye production, in: Barbera, G., Inglese, P., Pimienta-Barrios, E. (Eds.), Agro-ecology, Cultivation and Uses of Cactus Pear, *FAO-Plant Production and Protection Paper*, Rome 1995, *132*, 177–185.

- [124] Francis, F. J., Less common natural colorants, in: Hendry, G. A. F., Houghton, J. D. (Eds.), *Natural Food Colorants*, 2<sup>nd</sup> edition, Blackie Academic & Professional-Chapman & Hall, Bishopbriggs, Glasgow 1996, pp. 311–341.
- [125] Schul, J., Carmine, in: Lauro, G. J., Francis, F. J. (Eds.), Natural Food Colorants – Science and Technology, Marcel Dekker, New York, Basel 2000, pp. 1–10.
- [126] Brutsch, M. O., Zimmermann, H. G., The prickly pear (*Opuntia ficus-indica* [Cactaceae]) in South Africa: Utilization of the naturalized weed, and of the cultivated plants. *Econ. Bot.* 1993, 47, 154–162.
- [127] Regenstein, J. M., Chaudry, M. M., Regenstein, C. E., The kosher and halal food laws. *Comprehensive Rev. Food Sci. Food Safety* 2003, 2, 111–127.
- [128] Lucas, C. D., Hallagan, J. B., Taylor, S. L., The role of natural color additives in food allergy. *Adv. Food Nutr. Res.* 2001, 43, 195–216.
- [129] Felker, P., Forage and fodder production and utilization, in: Barbera, G., Inglese, P., Pimienta-Barrios, E. (Eds.), Agroecology, Cultivation and Uses of Cactus Pear. FAO-Plant Production and Protection Paper, Rome 1995, 132, 144– 154.
- [130] Nefzaoui, A., Ben Salem, H., Forage, fodder, and animal nutrition, in: Nobel, P. S. (Ed.), *Cacti. Biology and Uses*, University of California Press, Berkeley, Los Angeles, London 2002, pp. 199–210.
- [131] Russell, C. E., Felker, P., The prickly pears (*Opuntia* spp., Cactaceae), a source of human and animal food in semiarid regions. *Econ. Bot.* 1987, *41*, 433–445.
- [132] Tegegne, F., Fodder potential of *Opuntia ficus-indica*. *Acta Hort*. 2002, 581, 343–346.
- [133] Mondragón-Jacobo, C., Pérez-González, S., Cactus (Opuntia spp.) as forage. FAO-Plant Production and Protection Paper, Rome 2001, 169.
- [134] Ramsay, C. N. M., Gramophone needles. GB Patent 317812 (23. 05. 1928).
- [135] Scifoni, M., Additive for Otto cycle engines and its fuel mixture. US Patent 4499267 (12. 02. 1985), EP Patent 134380 (20. 03. 1985).
- [136] Gopi, D., Malini, P., Ramesh, S., Rajeswari, S., A green way of protection against corrosion and scaling. *Res. J. Chem. Environ.* 2002, 6, 43–46.
- [137] El-Etre, A. Y., Inhibition of aluminium corrosion using Opuntia extract. Corrosion Sci. 2003, 45, 2485–2495.
- [138] Bati, S., Rovero, L., Natural additives for improving the mechanical properties and durability of adobe building material. *Mat. Engineer*. 2001, 12, 413–425.
- [139] Sáenz, C., Sepúlveda, E., Matsuhiro, B., *Opuntia* spp mucilage's: a functional component with industrial perspectives. *J. Arid Environ.* 2004, *57*, 275–290.
- [140] Hitchcock Noël, P., Pugh, J. A., Larme, A. C., Marsh, G., The use of traditional plant medicines for non-insulin dependent Diabetes mellitus in South Texas. *Phytother. Res.* 1997, 11, 512–517.
- [141] Shapiro, K., Gong, W. C., Natural products used for diabetes. J. Am. Pharmaceut. Assoc. 2002, 42, 217–226.
- [142] Shapiro, K., Gong, W. C., Use of herbal products for diabetes by Latinos. J. Am. Pharmaceut. Assoc. 2002, 42, 278–279.
- [143] Hegwood, D. A., Human health discoveries with *Opuntia* sp. *Hort Science* 1990, *25*, 1515–1516.

- [144] Viegi, L., Pieroni, A., Guarrera, P. M., Vangelisti, R., A review of plants used in folk veterinary medicine in Italy as basis for a databank. *J. Ethnopharmacol.* 2003, *89*, 221–244
- [145] Lee, J.-C., Kim, H. R., Kim, J., Jang, Y.-S., Antioxidant property of an ethanol extract of the stem of *Opuntia ficus*indica var. saboten. J. Agric. Food Chem. 2002, 50, 6490– 6496
- [146] Dok-Go, H., Lee, K. H., Kim, H. J., Lee, E. H., Lee, J., Song, Y. S., Lee, Y.-H., Jin, C., Lee, Y. S., Cho, J., Neuroprotective effects of antioxidative flavonoids quercetin, (+)-dihydroquercetin and quercetin 3-methyl ether, isolated from *Opuntia ficus-indica* var. saboten. *Brain Res.* 2003, *965*, 130–136.
- [147] Lee, Y. S., Park, H., Jin, C., Kim, H. J., Cho, J., Park, M., Song, Y., Use of an *Opuntia ficus-indica* extract and compounds isolated therefrom for protecting nerve cells. *WO Patent* 03/037324 A1 (08. 05. 2003).
- [148] Park, E.-H., Kahng, J.-H., Paek, E.-A., Studies on the pharmacological actions of cactus: Identification of its antiflammatory effect. *Arch. Pharmacal Res.* 1998, 21, 30–34.
- [149] Park, E.-H., Kahng, J.-H., Lee, S. H., Shin, K.-H., An antiinflammatory principle from cactus. *Fitoterapia* 2001, 72, 288–290.
- [150] Galati, E. M., Mondello, M. R., Monforte, M. T., Galluzo, M., Miceli, N., Tripodo, M. M., Effect of *Opuntia ficus-indica* (L.) Mill. cladodes in the wound-healing process. *J. Profess. Assoc. Cactus Develop.* 2003, 5, 1–16.
- [151] Lee, E. B., Hyun, J. E., Li, D. W., Moon, Y. I., The effect of Opuntia ficus-indica var. saboten fruit on gastric lesion and ulcer in rats. Nat. Prod. Sci. 2001, 7, 90–93.
- [152] Lee, E. B., Hyun, J. E., Li, D. W., Moon, Y. I., Effects of *Opuntia ficus-indica* var. saboten stem on gastric damage in rats. *Arch. Pharmacal Res.* 2002, 25, 67–70.
- [153] Galati, E. M., Monforte, M. T., Tripodo, M. M., D'Aquino, A., Mondello, M. R., Antiulcer activity of *Opuntia ficus-indica* (L.) Mill. (Cactaceae): ultrastructural study. *J. Ethno-pharmacol.* 2001, 76, 1–9.
- [154] Galati, E. M., Pergolizzi, S., Miceli, N., Monforte, M. T., Tripodo, M. M., Study on the increment of the production of gastric mucus in rats treated with *Opuntia ficus indica* (L.) Mill. cladodes. *J. Ethnopharmacol.* 2002, 83, 229–233.
- [155] Meckes-Lozyoa, M., Roman-Ramós, R., Opuntia streptacantha, a coadjutor in the treatment of Diabetes mellitus. Am. J. Chinese Med. 1986, 14, 116–118.
- [156] Frati, A. C., Gordillo, B. E., Altamirano, P., Ariza, C. R., Cortes-Franco, R., Chavez-Negrete, A., Acute hypoglycemic effect of *Opuntia streptacantha* Lemaire in NIDDM. *Diabet. Care* 1990, 13, 455–456.
- [157] Frati, A. C., Jiménez, E., Raúl Ariza, C., Hypoglycemic effect of *Opuntia ficus indica* in non insulin-dependent Diabetes mellitus patients. *Phytother. Res.* 1990, 4, 195–197.
- [158] Ibañez-Camacho, R., Meckes-Lozoya, M., Mellado-Campos, V., The hypoglucemic effect of *Opuntia streptacantha* studied in different animal experimental models. *J. Ethno*pharmacol. 1983, 7, 175–181.
- [159] Bwititi, P. T., Machakaire, T., Nhachi, C. B., Musabayane, C. T., Effects of *Opuntia megacantha* leaves extract on renal electrolyte and fluid handling in streptozotocin (STZ)-diabetic rats. *Renal Failure* 2001, 23, 149-158.
- [160] Meckes-Lozoya, M., Ibáñez-Camacho, R., Hypoglucaemic activity of *Opuntia streptacantha* throughout the annual cycle. *Am. J. Chinese Med.* 1989, *17*, 221–224.

- [161] Alarcon-Aguilar, F. J., Valdes-Arzate, A., Xolalpa-Molina, S., Banderas-Dorantes, T., Jimenez-Estrada, M., Hernandez-Galicia, E., Roman-Ramos, R., Hypoglycemic activity of two polysaccharides from *Opuntia ficus-indica* and *O. strep-tacantha. Proc. Western Pharmacol. Soc.* 2003, 46, 139–142.
- [162] Enigbokan, M. A., Felder, T. B., Thompson, J. O., Kuti, J. O., Ekpenyong, K. I., Hypoglycaemic effects of *Opuntia ficus-indica* Mill., *Opuntia lindheimeri* Engelm. and *Opuntia robusta* Wendl. in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. *Phytother. Res.* 1996, 10, 379–382.
- [163] Laurenz, J. C., Collier, C. C., Kuti, J. O., Hypoglycaemic effect of *Opuntia lindheimeri* Englem. in a diabetic pig model. *Phytother. Res.* 2003, 17, 26–29.
- [164] Trejo-González, A., Gabriel-Ortiz, G., Puebla-Pérez, A. M., Huízar-Contreras, M. D., Munguía-Mazariegos, M. R., Mejía-Arreguín, S., Calva, E., A purified extract from prickly pear cactus (*Opuntia fuliginosa*) controls experimentally induced diabetes in rats. *J. Ethnopharmacol.* 1996, 55, 27–33.
- [165] Roman-Ramós, R., Flores-Saenz, J. L., Alarcon-Aguilar, F. J., Anti-hyperglycemic effect of some edible plants. *J. Eth-nopharmacol.* 1995, 48, 25–32.
- [166] Wolfram, R. M., Kritz, H., Efthimiou, Y., Stomatopoulos, J., Sinzinger, H., Effect of prickly pear (*Opuntia robusta*) on glucose- and lipid-metabolism in non-diabetics with hyperlipidemia – a pilot study. Wiener Klin. Wochenschr. 2002, 114, 840–846.
- [167] Campbell, R. K., White, J. R. jr., Insulin therapy in type 2 diabetes. J. Am. Pharmaceut. Assoc. 2002, 42, 602–611.
- [168] Costacou, T., Mayer-Davis, E. J., Nutrition and prevention of Type 2 diabetes. Ann. Rev. Nutr. 2003, 23, 147–170.
- [169] Jones, R., Insulin resistance, diet and cardiovascular disease: a review. *Food Agric. Environ.* 2003, *1*, 26–29.
- [170] Nourparvar, A., Bulotta, A., Di Mario, U., Perfetti, R., Novel strategies for the pharmacological management of type 2 diabetes. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 2004, 25, 86–91.
- [171] Yeh, G. Y., Eisenberg, D. M., Kaptchuk, T. D., Phillips, R. S., Systematic review of herbs and dietary supplements for glycemic control in diabetes. *Diab. Care* 2003, 26, 1277–1294.
- [172] Budinsky, A., Wolfram, R., Oguogho, A., Efthimiou, Y., Stamatopoulos, Y., Sinziger, H., Regular ingestion of *Opuntia robusta* lowers oxidation injury. *Prostagland. Leukotr. Ess. Fatty Acids* 2001, 65, 45–50.
- [173] Fernández, M. L., Trejo, A., McNamara, D. J., Pectin isolated from prickly pear (*Opuntia* sp.) modifies low density lipoprotein metabolism in cholesterol-fed guinea pigs. *J. Nutr.* 1990, 120, 1283–1290.
- [174] Fernández, M. L., Lin, E. C. K., Trejo, A., McNamara, D. J., Prickly pear (*Opuntia* sp.) pectin reverses low density lipoprotein receptor suppression induced by a hypercholesterolemic diet in guinea pigs. *J. Nutr.* 1992, *122*, 2330–2340.
- [175] Fernández, M. L., Lin, E. C. K., Trejo, A., McNamara, D. J., Prickly pear (*Opuntia* sp.) pectin alters hepatic cholesterol metabolism without affecting cholesterol absorption in guinea pigs fed a hypercholesterolemic diet. *J. Nutr.* 1994, 124, 817–824.
- [176] Palumbo, B., Efthimiou, Y., Stamatopoulos, J., Oguogho, A., Budinsky, A., Palumbo, R., Sinziger, H., Prickly pear induces upregulation of liver LDL binding in familial heterozygous hypercholesterolemia. *Nuclear Med. Rev.* 2003, 6, 35–39.

- [177] Wolfram, R. M., Budinsky, A., Efthimiou, Y., Stomatopoulos, J., Oguogho, A., Sinzinger, H., Daily prickly pear consumption improves platelet function. *Prostagland. Leukotr. Ess. Fatty Acids* 2003, 69, 61–66.
- [178] Bwititi, P., Musabayane, C. T., Nhachi, C. F. B., Effects of Opuntia megacantha on blood glucose and kidney function in streptozotocin diabetic rats. J. Ethnopharmacol. 2000, 69, 247–252.
- [179] Bwititi, P., Zamurawo, M., Mabhachi, G., Mashanga, N., Toxic and hypericaemic effects of *Opuntia megacantha* extract in rats. *Phytother. Res.* 1997, 11, 389–391.
- [180] Galati, E. M., Tripodo, M. M., Trovato, A., Miceli, N., Monforte, M. T., Biological effects of *Opuntia ficus indica* (L.) Mill. (Cactaceae) waste matter. Note I: diuretic activity. *J. Ethnopharmacol.* 2002, 79, 17–21.
- [181] Ahmad, A., Davies, J., Randall, S., Skinner, G. R. B., Antiviral properties of extract of *Opuntia streptacantha*. *Antiviral Res.* 1996, *30*, 75–85.
- [182] Eisenhofer, G., Kopin, I. J., Goldstein, D. S., Catecholamine metabolism: a contemporary view with implications for physiology and medicine. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 2004, 56, 331– 349.
- [183] Han, Y. N., Choo, Y., Lee, Y.-C., Moon, Y.-I., Kim, S.-D., Choi, J.-W., Monoamine oxidase B inhibitors from the fruits of *Opuntia ficus-indica* var. saboten. Arch. Pharmacal Res. 2001, 24, 51–54.
- [184] Havsteen, B. H., The biochemistry and medical significance of the flavonoids. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 2002, *96*, 67–202.
- [185] Kalt, W., Health functional phytochemicals of fruit. *Hort. Rev.* 2001, 27, 269–315.
- [186] Kushad, M. M., Masiunas, J., Smith, M. A. L., Kalt, W., Eastman, K., Health promoting phytochemicals in vegetables. Hort. Rev. 2003, 28, 125–185.
- [187] Middleton, E., Kandaswami, C., Theoharides, T. C., The effects of plant flavonoids on mammalian cells: implications for inflammation, heart disease, and cancer. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 2000, *52*, 673–751.
- [188] Ross, J. A., Kasum, C. M., Dietary flavonoids: bioavailability, metabolic effects, and safety. *Ann. Rev. Nutr.* 2002, *22*, 19–34.
- [189] Stavric, B., Antimutagens and anticarcinogens in food. *Food Chem. Toxicol.* 1994, *32*, 79–90.
- [190] Garti, N., Review: Hydrocolloids as emulsifying agents for oil-in water emulsions. *J. Dispers. Sci. Technol.* 1999, 20, 327–355.
- [191] Garti, N., Leser, M. E., Emulsification properties of hydrocolloids. *Polym. Adv. Technol.* 2001, 12, 123–135.
- [192] de Kruif, C. G., Tuinier, R., Polysaccharide-protein interactions. *Food Hydrocoll.* 2001, *15*, 555–563.
- [193] Leroux, J., Langendorff, V., Schick, G., Vaishnav, V., Mazoyer, J., Emulsion stabilizing properties of pectin. *Food Hydrocoll*. 2003, 17, 455–462.
- [194] Nobel, P. S., García-Moya, E., Quero, E., High annual productivity of certain agaves and cacti under cultivation. *Plant Cell Environ*. 1992, 15, 329–335.
- [195] Trachtenberg, S., Mayer, A. M., Biophysical properties of Opuntia ficus-indica mucilage. Phytochemistry 1982, 21, 2835–2843.
- [196] Anderson, D. M. W., Water-soluble plant gum exudates. Part I. Gum arabic. *Process Biochem.* 1977, 12, 24, 25, 29.

- [197] Joye, D. D., Luzio, G. A., Process for selective extraction of pectins from plant material by differential pH. *Carbohydr. Polym.* 2000, 43, 337–342.
- [198] Vidal, S., Williams, P., Doco, T., Moutonnet, M., Pellerin, P., The polysaccharide of red wine: total fractionation and characterization. *Carbohydr. Polym.* 2003, 54, 439–447.
- [199] Pintado, A. I., Macedo, A. C., Teixeira, G., Pais, M. S., Clemente, A., Malcata, F. X., Caseinolytic activity of fruit extract from *Opuntia ficus-indica* on bovine, caprine, and ovine sodium caseinates. *Biotechnol. Progr.* 2001, 17, 643– 646
- [200] Teixeira, G., Santana, A. R., Pais, M. S., Clemente, A., Enzymes of *Opuntia ficus-indica* (L.) Miller with potential industrial applications-1. *Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol.* 2000, 88, 299–312.
- [201] El-Kossori, R. L., Sanchez, C., El Boustani, E.-S., Maucourt, M. N., Sauvaire, Y., Méjean, L., Villaume, C., Comparison of effects of prickly pear (*Opuntia ficus indica* sp.) fruit, arabic gum, carrageenan, alginic acid, locust bean gum and citrus pectin on viscosity and *in vitro* digestibility of casein. *J. Sci. Food Agric.* 2000, 80, 359–364.
- [202] Chen, S., Zhao, J., Agboola, S., Isolation and partial characterization of rennet-like proteases from Australian cardoon (Cynara cardunculus L.). J. Agric. Food Chem. 2003, 51, 3127–3134.
- [203] Silva, S. V., Malcata, F. X., Studies pertaining to coagulant and proteolytic activities of plant proteases from *Cynara* cardunculus. Food Chem. 2005, 89, 19–26.
- [204] Cormier, F., Charest, C., Dufresne, C., Partial purification and properties of proteases from fig (*Ficus carica*) callus cultures. *Biotechnol. Lett.* 1989, 11, 797–802.
- [205] Oner, M. D., Akar, B., Separation of the proteolytic enzymes from fig tree latex and its utilization in Gaziantep cheese production. *Lebensm. Wiss. Technol.* 1993, 26, 318–321.
- [206] Wada, M., Suzuki, T., Yaguti, Y., Hasegawa, T., The effects of pressure treatments with kiwi fruit protease on adult cattle semitendinosus muscle. *Food Chem.* 2002, 78, 167–171.
- [207] Bachmann, M. R., Farah, Z., Occurrence of bitter taste in mixtures of milk proteins and kiwi fruit (*Actinidia chinen-sis*). *Lebensmittel Wiss. Technol.* 1982, 15, 157–158.
- [208] Prestamo, G., Actinidin in kiwi cultivars. Z. Lebensm. Unters. Forsch. 1995, 200, 64–66.
- [209] Azarkan, M., El Moussaoui, A., van Wuytswinkel, D., Dehon, G., Looze, Y., Fractionation and purification of the enzymes stored in the latex of *Carica papaya*. J. Chromatogr. B 2003, 790, 229–238.
- [210] Doko, M. B., Bassani, V., Casadebaig, J., Cavailles, L., Jacob, M. Preparation of proteolytic enzyme extracts from *Ananas comosus* L., Merr. fruit juice using semipermeable membrane, ammonium sulfate extraction, centrifugation and freeze-drying processes. *Int. J. Pharmaceut.* 1991, 76, 199–206.
- [211] Mälkki, Y., Trends in dietary fibre research and development. Acta Aliment. 2004, 33, 39–62.
- [212] Roehrig, K. L., The physiological effects of dietary fiber a review. Food Hydrocoll. 1988, 2, 1–18.
- [213] Atici, Ö., Nalbantoglu, B., Antifreeze proteins in higher plants. *Phytochemistry* 2003, 64, 1187–1196.

- [214] Dubey, R. S., Protein synthesis by plants under stressful conditions, in: Pessarakli, M. (Ed.), *Handbook of Plant and Crop Stress*, Marcel Dekker, New York 1999, pp. 366–397.
- [215] Feder, M. E., Hofmann, G. E., Heat shock proteins, molecular chaperones, and the stress response: evolutionary and ecological physiology. *Ann. Rev. Physiol.* 1999, 61, 243–282.
- [216] Guy, C. L., Cold acclimation and freezing stress tolerance: role of protein metabolism. *Ann. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol.* 1990, *41*, 187–223.
- [217] Key, J. L., Lin, C. Y., Chen, Y. M., Heat shock proteins of higher plants. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 1981, 78, 3526– 3530.
- [218] Lindquist, S., Craig, E. A., The heat-shock proteins. *Ann. Rev. Gen.* 1988, 22, 631–677.
- [219] Nakamoto, H., Hiyama, T., Heat-shock proteins and temperature stress, in: Pessarakli, M. (Ed.), *Handbook of Plant* and Crop Stress, Marcel Dekker, New York 1999, pp. 399– 416.
- [220] Wang, W., Vinocur, B., Shoseyov, O., Altmann, A., Role of plant heat-shock proteins and molecular chaperones in the abiotic stress response. *Trends Plant Sci.* 2004, 9, 244–252.
- [221] Nobel, P. S., De la Barrera, E., Tolerances and acclimation to low and high temperatures for cladodes, fruits and roots of a widely cultivated cactus, *Opuntia ficus-indica*. *New Phytol*. 2003, 157, 271–279.
- [222] Somers, D. L., Giroux, R. W., Filion, W. G., The expression of temperature-stress proteins in a desert cactus (*Opuntia ficus-indica*). *Genome* 1991, 34, 940–943.
- [223] Pereira, B. M. R., Da Silva, B. P., Pereira, N. A., Parente, J. P., Anti-inflammatory and immunologically active polysac-charides of *Periandra mediterranea*. *Phytochemistry* 2000, 54, 409-413.
- [224] Reynolds, T., Dweck, A. C., Aloe vera leaf gel: a review update. *J. Ethnopharmacol.* 1999, *68*, 3–37.
- [225] Bland, E. J., Keshavarz, T., Bucke, C., The influence of small oligosaccharides on the immune system. *Carbohydr. Res.* 2004, *339*, 1673–1678.
- [226] Eshun, K., He, Q., Aloe vera: a valuable ingredient for the food, pharmaceutical and cosmetic industries a review. *Crit. Rev. Food Sci. Nutr.* 2004, *44*, 91–96.
- [227] Grindlay, D., Reynolds, T., The *Aloe vera* phenomenon: a review of the properties and modern uses of the leaf parenchyma gel. *J. Ethnopharmacol.* 1986, *16*, 117–151.
- [228] Gebhardt, R., Inhibition of cholesterol biosynthesis in primary cultured rat hepatocytes by artichoke (*Cynara scolymus* L.) extracts. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 1998, 286, 1122–1128.
- [229] Gebhardt, R., Variable influence of kaempferol and myricetin on in vitro hepatocellular cholesterol biosynthesis. *Planta Med.* 2003, 69, 1071–1074.
- [230] Piironen, V., Lindsay, D. G., Miettinen, T. A., Toivo, J., Lampi, A.-M., Plant sterols: biosynthesis, biological function and their importance to human nutrition. *J. Sci. Food Agric*. 2000, 80, 939–966.
- [231] Dagne, E., Bisrat, D., Viljoen, A., Van Wyk, B.-E., Chemistry of Aloe species. Curr. Org. Chem. 2000, 4, 1055–1078.